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From: Foster, Jeff

Sent: Monday, February 06, 2012 8:59 PM

To: Joseph Tracy (Joseph.Tracy@ny.frb.org); patricia.mosser@ny.frb.org
Subject: Draft Housing Finance Reform Proposal

Attachments: HFR 1 25 12.doc

Joe/Trish — Good to see you tonight. Attached is the draft housing finance / GSE reform proposal. We have shared this
with the Secretary. Would like to find a time to discuss with you in the next week or so. Hopefully this will be a good

starting point for discussion.

Please keep this close for now, and let’s discuss who else should potentially review and provide input.

Thx,
Jeff
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HOUSING FINANCE REFORM — WORKING DRAFT PROPOSAL FOR COMMENT

We support reform of the mortgage finance market for single family and multifamily mortgages that
draws on the best functional aspects of our existing mortgage market, including many of the
services provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the GSEs), but which more closely reflects the
regulatory structure and key strengths of our banking system.

The GSEs’ business model was inappropriately structured, and ultimately failed in three
fundamental respects: (i) lack of sufficient regulatory oversight and prudential underwriting
standards, (ii) excessive leverage and lack of sufficient capital to support the guarantees and loans
on the GSEs’ books, and (iii) lack of an explicit relationship with the government to both
compensate and protect the taxpayer in the event of failure. Moreover, the perception of
government support for the GSEs allowed the institutions to grow in size and systemic importance
that would have never been possible for private companies, leading to a significant concentration of
mortgage credit risk.

Going forward, we believe that any reformed mortgage finance system should address these
fundamental flaws and adhere to the following core principles:

1. Private sector activities, which include credit underwriting and primary “first loss”
guarantees, should be fully separate from public sector activities that require the use of the
government’s balance sheet.

2. Government support, which can include the provision of a catastrophic “second loss”
guarantee to support liquidity and stable funding, should be explicitly charged for, both on
an ex-ante and ex-post basis. Guarantees should be limited in nature and apply only to
securities that support mortgage funding and not to financial institutions. Taxpayer funds
should only be drawn upon after an institution has failed and been taken into receivership.

3. Any entities which benefit from access to government support should be subject to
(1) stronger oversight through federal regulation, (ii) enhanced prudential underwriting
standards, and (iii) capital requirements consistent with those required of banks. All
federally regulated financial institutions should be on a level playing field and capital and
regulatory arbitrage opportunities should be minimized.

4. Mortgage credit risk should be widely dispersed throughout the financial system and
supported through lower barriers to entry for competition, specific concentration limits, and
requirements to syndicate credit risk into the capital markets.

There are a number of ways to structure a mortgage finance system that follows these principles and
supports the continued availability of mortgage credit, including long-term fixed rate mortgages.
The reform proposal detailed in this memo seeks to meet these principles in an effective and
balanced way. It builds upon discussions with you and a two-year interagency working group
process, which has included participation from Treasury, HUD, NEC, CEA, DPC, and input from
the Federal Reserve. This memo builds upon the concepts and presentations discussed with you
leading up to and following the release of the Administration’s Housing Finance Reform White
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Paper, and attempts to address your questions and requests. The specific terms of the proposal are
preliminary and meant to be indicative. Further discussions with the interagency group are.

Finally, we would expect that any public presentation or discussion would be at a much higher level
and would leave room for input and feedback from market participants and a broad range of
stakeholders on how best to structure the future system.

Overview of Reform Proposal

The proposed mortgage finance system would replace the current GSE duopoly with a broad set of
Private Mortgage Guarantors (PMGs) and a single government Securitization Utility. Well-
capitalized and regulated PMGs would fully guarantee the payment of principal and interest on
eligible single family and multifamily mortgages (i.e., future “conforming” mortgages). The
Securitization Utility would provide liquidity through securitization support (i.e. pooling and
potentially tranching) and an explicit government guarantee, or “reinsurance”, on mortgage-backed
securities (MBS) collateralized by PMG insured mortgages.

The proposed structure is similar to the existing relationship between the Federal Housing
Administration (FHA) and Ginnie Mae (GNMA). In addition, the Federal Housing Finance Agency
(FHF A) or another independent agency (possibly the FDIC or a new agency) would serve as the
Reinsurer and establish a reserve fund similar to the deposit insurance fund (DIF) to support the
government guarantee and protect taxpayers in the event of a PMG failure. This new financing
channel is not intended to support non-conforming mortgages and FHA would continue to play its
traditional role as a provider of mortgage credit for low income and high LTV borrowers.

For single family and multifamily mortgage borrowers, the process for obtaining a mortgage will
remain substantially similar to the process today. The proposed reforms would support the
continued wide availability of long-term fixed-rate mortgages, including the to-be-announced
(TBA) securities market, which allows borrowers to lock in mortgage rates in advance of
purchasing a home and allows investors to access a deep and liquid investment market. Borrowers
will have to pay higher guarantee fees, as the new PMGs will be required to hold higher levels of
capital against their guarantees than the GSEs held in the past. However, if this approach is
executed soundly, the financial system and its institutions will be stronger and pose less risk to the
economy.

In the reformed system, PMGs would be limited to four key activities: (i) guaranteeing conforming
mortgages, (ii) pooling and warehousing conforming mortgages before delivery to the
Securitization Utility, (iii) funding and administering loss mitigation activities, and (iv) syndicating
first loss securities to the market, when appropriate. PMGs could be established to support single
family and/or multifamily lending. PMGs could be either monoline companies or affiliates/
subsidiaries of banks. PMGs would be required to be separately capitalized and appropriately ring-
fenced from all other subsidiaries.

To support strong oversight, regulatory consistency and a level playing field with banks (including
capital standards), PMGs would be chartered as a subsidiary of a Bank Holding Company (BHC).
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PMGs would be subject to a dual regulatory mandate, with oversight provided by FHF A and the
Federal Reserve (and potentially the Reinsurer, if it is a different entity). The BHC approach
supports a more integrated and consolidated approach to oversight of the financial services sector
and reduces capital and regulatory arbitrage opportunities. (The proposed regulatory framework is
outlined in greater detail later in the memorandum.)

In addition to a robust regulatory structure, safety and soundness will be supported by:
e Capital standards broadly similar to those required of insured depositories under Basel III.
¢ Economic and regulatory incentives to distribute first loss credit risk to the capital markets.
e Concentration limits set to minimize the systemic risk posed by the failure of a single PMG.

Mortgage Funding in the Proposed System

Historically, mortgage originators, many of which are already subsidiaries of BHCs, have relied on
two main options to fund mortgages, whether for single family homes or multifamily properties:

1. Portfolio Lending — Portfolio lending relies upon funding from (i) deposits, (ii) secured
financing in the form of Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances, or (iii) general
unsecured debt issued by the bank. Most portfolio lending generally occurs through a BHC’s
Insured Depository Institution (IDI), whereby the originator retains four forms of mortgage
risk on its balance sheet (credit risk, funding risk, interest rate risk and prepayment risk).
Banks have tended not to retain long-term fixed-rate mortgages in their portfolios due to
interest-rate risk and costs associated with holding long duration assets. Most portfolio loans
tend to be adjustable rate mortgages.

2. Securitization-Based Origination — If a mortgage originator cannot or does not want to retain
the credit risk, funding risk, interest rate risk and prepayment risk of a mortgage in its
portfolio, it can utilize off-balance sheet securitizations to fund mortgages. Through
securitization, the originator passes on all four mortgage risks to the market (subject to certain
“representation and warranty” put-back risks) and earns an origination/securitization fee for
the transaction.' Historically, the originator would either (i) sell the mortgage to the GSEs
who would then retain the credit risk and pass on the funding, interest rate and prepayment
risks to Agency MBS investors, (ii) obtain FHA mortgage insurance and securitize MBS
through Ginnie Mae where the government assumed credit risk and investors assumed all
other risks, or (iii) sell to the private label securities (PLS) market (where investors assumed
all four risks directly).

The GSE and FHA guarantor model has historically been the only way for private mortgage
originators to access government or quasi-government liquidity and support securitization-based
mortgage lending (and by extension the long-term fixed rate mortgage). This created an extra step
of financial intermediation in the mortgage origination process. This is in contrast to a bank’s

! As well as any retained mortgage servicing rights that may be associated with the contract.
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ability to directly access government deposit insurance to support deposit-based lending activities.
In addition to substituting the GSE monoline guarantor model with new monoline PMGs (which
would continue to support Securitization-Based Origination), the proposed system reforms will
provide mortgage lenders with a third, additional channel to fund and support their mortgage
business: PMG-based securitization, in which the credit risk is retained by an originating BHC’s
subsidiary, but the funding, interest rate and pre-payment risk is transferred to MBS investors.

Proposed Reform of the Mortgage Finance System

In the reformed mortgage system, PMG-based mortgage funding could follow two basic models
that are not mutually exclusive:

1. PMG as an Acquirer of Third Party Originated Morigages (Traditional Model): Monoline
PMGs would retain a similar function to the roles Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac play today.
They would provide secondary market liquidity for mortgage originators who are not affiliated
with a PMG. This structure would allow mortgage originators to continue to utilize the
Securitization-Based Origination model (similar to the way smaller lenders access the GSEs’
cash window today). The viability of independent PMGs could serve as an important vehicle
to provide other entities, including community and regional banks, a source of liquidity via a
third party if they do not have the size/scale/desire to independently operate a PMG.

2. PMGs Supporting Affiliated Lender Origination (Integrated Model): Allows a bank to access
USG supported liquidity directly to support their funding of longer duration mortgages. A
BHC with both a commercial bank and a PMG would retain credit risk (similar to Portfolio
Lending). However, it would fund those mortgages through the MBS market with securities
that carry an explicit USG reinsurance guarantee, thereby transferring funding, interest rate
and pre-payment risk to investors (similar to Securitization-Based Origination). The USG
guarantee is analogous in many ways to the way a bank utilizes stable FDIC-backed deposit
funding to support consumer, commercial real estate and business lending. Additionally, a
BHC would be required to hold sufficient risk capital against retained mortgages, whether
they are funded through its IDI or PMG activities.

The expansion of this funding option for mortgage originators and the democratization of the
liquidity support from the USG to a broader set of financial institutions (relative to the past
duopoly) will have several benefits. These include increasing access to credit, reducing
concentration of credit risk, increasing competition, and improving operational efficiencies in the
mortgage market. The PMG financing channel will preserve many of the critical functions of the
current system (including the presence of the TBA market) and simultaneously reduce the
government’s direct risk exposure. Moreover, lower barriers to entry for financial institutions to
participate as a PMG and access government securitization and liquidity support should also
facilitate participation in the mortgage finance market by both community banks and multifamily
lenders.
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Key Terms of Reform Plan

Private Mortgage Guarantors
e PMGs would be chartered as a subsidiary of a Bank Holding Company (BHC), similar to a
wholesale or limited purpose bank.

o Could be part of a Diversified Financial Institution (DFI), which would likely have an
Insured Depository Institution (IDI) as its dominant business; or

o Could be a monoline, i.e., the PMG is the single dominant subsidiary of the BHC.
e PMGs guarantee 100% of the principal and interest on insured loans.

o All loans are recourse to the PMG’s entire capital base (all guaranteed loans are fully
cross-collateralized and equally supported by the capital of the PMG).

o USG reinsurance will be tapped only if capital levels of a PMG are insufficient and the
PMG goes into receivership, similar to the way bank receivership currently works.

o PMGs will be qualified risk retainers for the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act,
under Section 941.

e Any BHC may apply for a PMG charter.

o Standards / requirements of the charter would be established by statute and regulation.

o Independently capitalized and ring-fenced from other subsidiaries (the IDI, broker-
dealer, foreign subs, etc).

o Similar restrictions on capital transfers and affiliated transactions as required by an
IDIL.

e Balance sheet funding and the ability to borrow at the PMG will be restricted

o Generally constrained to short-term warehousing of loans (pre-securitization) and the
funding of non-performing loans that have defaulted.

o Some level of longer-term portfolio funding may be needed for multifamily mortgages,
given the more heterogeneous nature of that asset class, but this remains an open
question.

o Note: Given that a PMG will be a subsidiary of a BHC, most of the warehouse funding
will likely be most efficient through a bank’s IDI.

e Existing mortgage insurers, new firms or other financial institution subsidiaries could apply
to become a PMG.
o The same standards outlined above will apply to these “monoline” PMGs.
o Parts of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be converted/sold to become PMGs.
e Lower barriers to entry in the mortgage guarantee business than in the past supports
increased access to credit, greater competition and reduced concentration of credit risk.

Regulatory Structure
e Joint FHFA/Federal Reserve oversight, similar to the FDIC/Federal Reserve structure for
BHCs.
o FHFA provides specific oversight over PMG and their capital reserves, operations, etc.
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o Federal Reserve provides oversight over BHC and overall capital standards and

solvency.

o Reinsurer (if separate from FHFA) could provide an additional level of oversight.
The BHC structure would be relied upon in part to ensure that capital standards and
prudential regulations are not weakened in the future, and a level playing field between
mortgage guarantors and the traditional banking sector is maintained.

Government Guarantee/Single National Securitization Utility

A single, government-backed Securitization Utility could be formed through existing
GNMA operations, with modified responsibilities, and, to the extent additive, take parts of
the GSEs’ businesses (and human capital/systems).
The Securitization Utility would be aggregate and structure loans into securities that carry an
explicit USG guarantee.
o All “conforming loans” that are insured by PMGs, as well as FHA and VA, will be
eligible to be securitized through this utility.
Responsible for creating TBA eligible securities.
Administers payments to bond investors and charges explicit USG reinsurance
guarantee fee (as set by FHFA as regulator/reinsurer).
MBS wrapped by the Securitization Utility will be deliverable into TBA market. Standards
will be set by the Securitization Utility in conjunction with market participants to maintain a
liquid and robust TBA market.
o Securitization Utility will allow some level of specified pooling to the extent that it
does not adversely impact TBA liquidity.
o Further work regarding pooling and aggregation at the PMG and Securitization
Utility level will need to be completed with the FHFA and market participants.

FHFA’s Regulatory Role

FHF A would continue as an independent regulatory agency with an independent, Senate
confirmed director. Changes would include:

o Stronger supervision and capital standards group,

o Stronger modeling, research, and analytics, and

o Market supervision and oversight of the Agency MBS market and the credit risk
syndication securities market.

FHFA, in conjunction with the Federal Reserve, would oversee the solvency and capital
adequacy of PMGs. In the event of insolvency or inadequate capital, FHFA would act as the
receiver of the troubled PMG.
o FHFA will follow resolution guidelines similar to the Orderly Liquidation Authority
(OLA). The FDIC could also be relied upon to administer resolution proceedings.
o Specific resolution guidelines and processes (and their interaction with an IDI or
BHC) will need to be discussed with the Federal Reserve and the FDIC.
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e The stringency and uniformity of capital, liquidity, risk management and underwriting
standards across PMGs will need to be carefully monitored by federal regulators.
o Avoid “race to the bottom” in standards to gain share.
o Ensure solvency through periods of stress.

Reinsurance Agency
e The Reinsurer would be responsible for setting the reinsurance fee, which will be paid by
the PMG, but likely passed onto the borrower.
o Actuarially priced reinsurance for tail risk (based on Treasury borrowing cost),
available in both normal markets and in times of stress.
o Reinsurance fee is expected to be approximately 5 — 10 basis points, depending on
the risk scenario the regulator wants to guard against on an ex-ante basis.
o Reinsurance fee would be a flat rate applied equally to any PMG guaranteed
mortgages
e The Reinsurer would also maintain and administer a Reserve Fund similar to the DIF/FDIC.
o Securitization Utility draws funds as needed to make bond payments when a PMG is
in receivership and no longer has resources to make payments.
e Taxpayer Protection: Reserve fund with additional auto-recoupment mechanism for any
unexpected losses (similar to the way the DIF and its assessments are managed by FDIC).
e Reinsurance fees could be raised in times of market strength to increase reserves or act as a
counter cyclical tool to reduce government footprint.

e Policy makers will need to decide who is best suited to serve as the Reinsurer and
administrator of the Reserve Fund (FHFA, FDIC, or potentially a new entity).

Capital Standards and Risk Syndication
e Capital standards at the PMGs will be set jointly by FHFA and the Federal Reserve.
o Minimum 300 basis points leverage ratio (~six times the historical GSE level).
o Inaddition, PMGs would be required to hold additional risk based capital, as
determined by regulators in a manner consistent with Basel II1.
e The amount of equity capital the PMG must hold can be reduced through the sale of first
loss securities to the capital markets due to the reduction in credit exposure the PMG retains.
o For example, a 10 percent first loss security on a pool of mortgages held by a PMG
could reduce capital reserve requirement by 65 - 85 percent (e.g., from 300 basis
points down to 100 — 50 basis points). FHFA and the Federal Reserve must jointly
determine how capital relief can be achieved via risk distribution to the capital
markets.
o Syndicated first loss securities will not be explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the
USG under any circumstance. In the event a PMG fails, holders of the first loss
security would not receive any recovery from the USG.
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e The interaction with the 5 percent leverage ratio requirement in order to be a “well
capitalized” BHC will be an important issue to work through with the Federal Reserve.
o This issue could potentially be addressed if some level of regulatory capital relief

and accounting consolidation was possible upon a sufficient level of risk syndication
by the PMG.

PMG Pricing/Guarantee Fees
e Risk-based pricing at the loan level will be explicitly allowed. This will include adjustments
for credit risks such as LTV and DTI levels, as well as geographic considerations (such as
accounting for a market which may be overheating / riskier or which has weaker
enforcement laws).
o Access considerations for risk-based pricing must be carefully considered by policy
makers and duty-to-serve or anti-redlining policy may merit consideration.

e PMGs, subject to bank-like capital requirements, are likely to charge 75 — 125 basis points
for their guarantee (relative to 15 — 25 basis points historically charged by the GSEs)
depending on risk level and the extent credit risk has been sold to the capital markets.

o Given lower pre-tax return requirements of fixed income investors relative to equity
investors in “levered” financial institutions®, credit risk syndication should help to
facilitate a reduction in the guarantee fees charged by the PMG.

e There will no longer be the need for Private Mortgage Insurance, which was traditionally
required for loans above 80 percent LTV, due to the ability of PMGs to apply risk-base
pricing and hold capital according to risk.> The PMGs will have the ability to charge higher
fees on higher LTV loans. This should enhance system efficiency.

e Despite higher guarantee fees, the impact to the borrower may be muted by a number of
factors.

o Explicit nature of the USG guarantee and improved liquidity from a more centralized
TBA market should improve MBS spreads by 20-40 basis points.

=  Today, GNMA securities trade approximately 40-50 basis points lower in
yield than Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securities.

o Increased access to government liquidity and greater competition may also help
improve mortgage origination competition, which would help narrow the primary —
secondary origination spread (currently at ~100 basis points, which compares to its
historic average of ~50 basis points).

Concentration limits/restrictions to reduce systemic risk
e No PMG that is a subsidiary of a DFI substantially engaged in other banking activities may
guarantee more than [10-15] percent of the total amount of PMG guaranteed securities.

? Investors in levered financial institutions look for 15% — 20% pre-tax ROEs (10% — 13% after tax) relative to the 7% —
12% pre-tax return generally required by unlevered fixed income investors who would invest in a first loss transaction.

3 Subject to a minimum LTV requirement.
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Any DFI PMG that guarantees more than [2.5-5] percent of the system assets must
fully syndicate the first loss credit risk to the capital markets before assuming
additional incremental exposure.

No monoline PMG may guarantee more than [20-25] percent of the total amount of PMG
guaranteed securities.

O

Any monoline PMG that guarantees more than [5-10] percent of the PMG system
assets must fully syndicate first loss credit risk to the capital markets to take on
incremental exposure.

This will ensure that the majority of the credit risk taken on by larger PMGs is
distributed to the capital markets during normal times. This will reduce the systemic
risk posed by any PMG and also ensure that pricing of the guarantee is reflective of
market signals.

Monoline PMGs would be allowed to have higher system concentration in order to allow
them to gain sufficient economies of scale to be competitive with DFIs and ensure smaller
mortgage originators have a viable securitization option.

To preserve competition in mortgage markets, concentration limits should apply separately
to single-family and multifamily mortgages.

FHFA and the Federal Reserve could make adjustments to these restrictions depending on
overall market share, loan volumes in the PMG system, and prevailing market and economic
conditions.

The combination of a PMG’s private capital funding and concomitant ROE expectations
with explicit concentration limits should support price stability and discipline that prevents
the PMGs from competing exclusively on price at the expense of capital adequacy (and help
avoid sparking a race-to-the-bottom).

Access for borrowers
Several policies should help promote mortgage financing access to creditworthy single
family and multifamily borrowers in a variety of communities.

Reforms would be structured such that community reinvestment, fair lending and other
antidiscrimination laws would extend to PMGs as they do to other banks.

O

This approach would be more efficient than the past affordability goal-based lending
measures required by the GSEs.

Providing liquidity and funding support directly to BHCs should increase the ability
to meet CRA requirements.

Additional conversations on how CRA requirements would apply to a PMG would
need to take place with the Federal Reserve.

To ensure transparency and effective monitoring, PMGs would also be required to collect
and publicly disclose timely data on the mortgages they buy, subject to the Home Mortgage
Disclosure Act (HMDA).
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Access for small banks and community lenders
e Community banks could potentially form their own PMGs, either separately or
cooperatively; or might be able to sell mortgages to another PMG.

e The combination of concentration limits and lower barriers to entry would likely promote
competition among PMGs and encourage them to partner with community bank lenders.
o This is particularly relevant because the limits will likely restrict large Affiliated
PMGs to a substantially smaller market share than the largest lenders have today.

e To prevent larger entities from undercutting small and medium BHCs competition, PMGs
could also be required to comply with further restrictions, including prohibitions on volume
discount offers to mortgage origination partners.

o However, these requirements may also lead to unintended market distortions and any
potential pricing restrictions should be carefully evaluated.

Support for Multifamily Mortgages

e PMGs will be allowed to specialize in multifamily mortgage guarantees. The multifamily
market often requires a more customized execution so PMGs might apply different
strategies, structures and relationships — such as risk sharing with originating lenders and
specific securitization processes — to accommodate the distinctive characteristics of
multifamily mortgages.

e Compared with single-family mortgages, common multifamily mortgage characteristics
include lower overall market volume, large average mortgage size, relative heterogeneity,
more detailed underwriting, and appeal to investors willing to understand the loan(s) in each
security, and loan servicing practices.

e Allowing a bank to gain more direct access to government liquidity and funding support for
eligible multifamily mortgages should also help facilitate increased multifamily lending and
increased product innovation, given the bespoke nature of multifamily underwriting.

e Competition and specialization would also likely benefit smaller multifamily properties
(where one-third of multifamily renters live but the GSEs and FHA under-serve) and the
development and preservation of affordable housing. However, such housing will continue
to require attention as the plan develops and is implemented.

10
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Preliminary Transition Steps

Below is an indicative transition path that could be followed to reach the proposed structure.

Step 1
e Establish plan to gradually increase guarantee fees to private market levels over time.
¢ Begin to syndicate risk from GSEs to capital markets in form of first loss securities to investors
to establish a market for mortgage credit risk.
e Implement servicing compensation reforms and transition to “fee for service” model.
Restructure PSPAs to allow for variable dividend payment based on positive net worth.
e Potentially merge the GSEs’ legacy assets into a single run-off business.
o Establish good bank / bad bank for legacy assets at GSEs.
o Contribute NPLs and high risk assets into single SPV or Resolution Company.

Step 2
e Create single liquid, fungible TBA market for legacy and new GSE books of business.
e Consider additional GSE asset sales of non-core businesses and outsource non-core functions to
third-party contractors.
e Establish clear data transparency and access to GSE IT systems (DU/LP) and historical data for
eventual new entrants (i.e., PMG).

Step 3
e Prior to any corporate divestment/separation, GSEs could be restructured into three distinct
divisions: a mortgage guarantor entity, a securitization utility and a legacy retained portfolio.
o Allows for clearer delineation of function and purpose of GSE activities.
o Even before new corporate entities are established, the GSEs can start engaging in
internal cost accounting and management organizational changes.

e Management retention to ensure that human capital is retained.
o Clear communication with management about the transition path.
o Structuring of appropriate retention packages.

Step 4
e Divest Fannie Mae and Freddie Macs” mortgage guarantor businesses.
o Potentially privatized as new PMGs, subject to Fed and FHF A supervision.
o PMG concentration limits will be phased in over a 10 year period.
e Establish a charter process for new applicants / entrants.
o Potentially give a window for capital relief or special treatment to attract new entrants.
e Merge Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securitization functions with GNMA to create a single
Securitization Utility.
o GNMA to potentially explicitly guarantee legacy GSE MBS securities.
¢ Retained portfolio businesses combined and operated from a legacy asset wind down vehicle.

Step §
¢ Establish new reinsurer to manage on-going credit reinsurance; parts of Fannie and Freddie to
be contributed.

11
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Other Key Parts of Plan

Note: Additional detail for the points below will be developed further in separate memos.

Affordability initiatives: Affordability initiatives are paid for and delivered in a separate and
transparent way. To complement other existing affordable housing programs administered by
HUD, state HF As and other agencies, the Affordable Housing Trust (AHT) and Capital Magnet
Fund (CMF) will be funded by a direct fee on the mortgage finance system. A portion of the
funding could also be allocated to support other new initiatives (potentially including matched
savings). There are open questions on how any direct fees will be assessed and what level of
funding is appropriate. The fee could be assessed on (1) all MBS explicitly guaranteed by the USG,
(2) all securitized MBS, or (3) all mortgages originated. This question is discussed in detail in a
separate memo. FHA will continue to provide credit to lower-income and first time home buyers.

Single Family Conforming Loan Standards: Inthe February 2011 Housing Reform White Paper,
the Administration signaled that down payments would need to be higher and loan sizes would need
to be smaller for future “conforming” loans. We will need to determine what specific conforming
loan standards/limitations should apply to government liquidity and securitization funding support
for single family loans. The narrower the range of products offered by PMGs, the easier it will be
for regulators, investors and market participants to track the risks that the PMGs are taking.
Similarly, more complex products provide greater opportunities for firms to arbitrage capital
requirements and take on unseen risks. Limiting the types of products offered can reduce excessive
risk taking, but needs to be balanced against the possibility that it will hinder the ability to obtain
shorter duration mortgages during periods of cyclically high rates. We will also need to consider
the interplay between the PMG conforming loan standards and the FHA conforming loan standards
and how differences (if any) will influence FHA market share and government risk.

Multifamily Conforming Loan Standards: Government liquidity and securitization funding
support for the multifamily market should be limited to (i) non-luxury (class B and C*) properties
for lower- and middle-income renters, including small unit properties (5 - 49 unit properties),

(i1) the development and preservation of affordable properties, and (iii) properties in underserved
communities. Class A luxury properties would not be eligible.

Regulators should set minimum prudent multifamily mortgage product and underwriting standards,
including: maximum LTVs, minimum debt service coverage, amortization periods, interest rate
features and tenure restrictions.

Limit FHA and FHLB system as a provider of subsidized financing: Absent parallel reforms,
FHA and the FHLBs would become relatively cheap sources of mortgage financing if GSE
successors are required to hold Basel I1I equivalent levels of capital.

* Class A properties represent the highest quality buildings in a market. They are generally the best looking buildings
with the best construction, and possess high quality building infrastructure. Class B properties are generally a little
older., but still have good quality management and tenants. Class C properties are the lowest classification of an office
building. They are very old buildings, are located in less desirable arcas and need extensive renovation.
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FHA: FHA reform will ensure that FHA has a more targeted single family footprint in normal
times (from 30 percent+ today to, ideally, 10 - 15 percent in normal markets). The FHA footprint
should be reduced through higher pricing and greater restrictions on eligible borrowers (changes in
loan limits and perhaps means testing). The maximum FHA combined loan-to-value (CLTV) cap
should be reduced to 95 percent (down from 97.5 percent today). Further reforms, such as
converting FHA into a government corporation to increase flexibility and independence, can also be
considered. FHA would support affordable multifamily housing, especially for construction and
rehabilitation properties, federally assisted properties, and smaller properties through risk-sharing,
as well as serving as a back-stop in times of market stress.

FHLB system and Covered Bonds: Taxpayer exposure and potential systemic risk should be
reduced by structural reform. The February 2011 Housing White Paper included specific FHLB
reforms such as establishing advance caps, returning to single-district membership, and imposing
portfolio restrictions on investment securities. As a funding alternative to advances for large
institutions (who have sufficient access to capital markets), covered bond legislation could be
included as part of FHLB reform. The key open question is how covered bonds should be treated in
receivership and the relationship to the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF).

Fee for Service Master Servicing Model: Future PMGs could follow a fee for service model at a
rate determined by the private market. As the holder of credit risk, the PMGs will retain master
servicing rights and contract back servicing to sub-servicers, such as the originator, independents,
special servicers, etc. A fee for service model will reduce the presence of MSRs on originators’
balance sheets, as well as align incentives with credit investors. GSEs can migrate to a fee for
service model in the near-term, which will change the industry model in advance of broader reform.

National Servicing Standards and Borrower Bill of Rights: Basic servicing standards will be set
through (1) global settlement process underway, (ii) CFPB, (ii1) further regulatory action and (iv)
specific legislative recommendations as part of the reform process.

Lien Priority: First lien enforcement rights should be increased and the Garn—St. Germain
Depository Institutions Act of 1982 should be repealed and/or modified so that Second Liens cannot
be incurred without either (i) permission of the First Lien or (ii) falling inside the original LTV of
the First Lien, 80% of current value, or the original balance of the First Lien at time of origination.

Foreclosure Laws: Establish model foreclosure rules for states. While this is still an open item,
Treasury staff continues to work on the best way to implement this reform.

Mortgage Title Registry: We would like to develop a national mortgage title registry system to
upgrade or replace the Mortgage Electronic Registration System (MERS) and develop statutory
requirements that support such a system. The new system would be funded by industry participants.

Tax Code/MID: We recognize the government supports housing through the tax code, primarily
through the mortgage interest tax deduction. This plan does not consider changes to the tax code,
but this is an area that should be explored in a subsequent discussion regarding fiscal and tax policy.

13
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Areas for Further Analysis

In addition to developing further policy recommendations around other key parts of the reform plan,
the following questions and topics are areas which will require further analysis and discussion, in
particular with the Federal Reserve, FHFA, and the FDIC as the plan is developed:

1) Description and consideration of how the securitizer will handle TBA pooling and rules around
the TBA market.

2) Analysis of the interplay of proposed reforms with existing regulatory structures and
arrangements, including how Basel 3 capital standards will be applied to PMGs and the
implications of the 5% leverage ratio.

3) How will firewalls, conflict of interest, and cross-subsidization be managed by BHCs with a
PMG subsidiary?

4) Discussion on how the resolution of a failing PMG will be handled, including the role of
various regulatory agencies and interplay between other affiliates of a BHC.

5) What limitations on risk based pricing and ability to selectively offer guarantees should be
required? Should there be any form of duty to serve beyond CRA?

6) Further analysis and consideration of structure and application of the USG explicit reinsurance
guarantee, including how to set and apply the fee, how the reserve fund will be managed
(including what to do with any excess funds over time), budgetary treatment and regulatory
structure

7) Consideration and explanation of how the proposed system will perform and respond at various
points over the economic/business cycle, including a discussion of how best to design the
system to be counter-cyclical.

8) Expected market shares of PMGs over time in both a steady and stressed market environment.

9) Additional analysis discussing QRM/QM/Conforming Loan standards, including QRM versus
PLS market share over time under both a steady state and under stress.

10) Description and consideration of how small, medium and large financial institutions will
participate in the proposed market mortgage system and how market access would work for
first time home buyers, move-up borrowers and investor properties.

11) Description and consideration of the source of equity and debt capital for PMGs and the
composition of their capital structure.

12) Comparison to alternative market structures, such as a new duopoly, a New York Fed type Co-
op, or Federal Reserve run system, as well as models proposed through congressional
legislation (such as the Miller-McCarthy national utility, Campbell-Peters PMG model, and
Isakson bill).

13) Description and consideration of how the proposed system will impact the cost of mortgage
financing for borrowers, including a comparison to other proposed mortgage reform plans.

14) Discussion of how monoline PMGs will be competitive with affiliated PMGs.

14
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From: Chepenik, Adam

Sent: Thursday, March 01, 2012 12:02 PM

To: Roberts, Benson; Graves, Donet (Don); Auer, LanceDisabled; Kim, Moses (Walter);
Sacco, GeorgeDisabled; Rosen, Katheryn; Dworkin, David; Hidalgo, Bibi; McRaith,
Michael

Cc: Bowler, Timothy; Foster, JeffDisabled; Mlynarczyk, Beth

Subject: Millstein Housing Reform Presentation

Attachments: Millstein Housing Finance Reform Materials (021412).pdf

Hi everyone,

Cap markets thought it would be helpful to circulate some of the best internal housing presentations and papers to
everyone.

We will send that material to you as soon as possible.

In the interim, we attached the Millstein report that was mentioned during our last meeting.

SENSITIVE / PRE-DECISIONAL

Adam B. Chepenik, CFA

Senior Policy Advisor

Department of the Treasury | Office of Capital Markets
1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW | Washington, DC 20220
202-622-2534 (w) | 301-346-2006 (m) | 202-622-2027 (f)
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From: Bowler, Timothy

Sent: Saturday, August 18, 2012 8:09 AM
To: james_m_parrott@who.eop.gov
Subject: Re: Great job

Thanks Jim

----- Original Message -----
From: Parrott, Jim [mailto:James M Parrott@who.eop.gov]|
Sent: Saturday, August 18, 2012 08:06 AM

To: Miller, Mary; LeCompte, Jenni; Stegman, Michael; Bowler, Timothy; Anderson, Matthew; Weideman, Christian;

Moore, Megan; Chepenik, Adam; Dash, Eric
Subject: Great job

Team Tsy,

You guys did a remarkable job on the PSPAs this week. You delivered on a policy change of enormous importance that's
actually being recognized as such by the outside world (or the reasonable parts anyway), and as a credit to the Secretary
and the President. It was a very high risk exercise, which could have gone sideways on us any number of ways, but it

didn't- great great work.
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From: Bowler, Timothy

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 10:53 PM
To: james_m_parrott@who.eop.gov
Subject: Re: Re:

Yes

----- Original Message -----

From: Parrott, Jim [mailto:James M Parrott@who.eop.gov]
Sent: Friday, August 17,2012 07:05 PM

To: Bowler, Timothy

Subject: Fw: Re:

----- Original Message -----

From: Peter J. Wallison [mailto:PWallison@AEl.org]
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 07:05 PM

To: Parrott, Jim

Subject: RE: Re:

Incidentally, Jim, as the portfolios are wound down on an accelerated basis, are profits from that also paid to the

Treasury as dividends?

Peter J. Wallison
Arthur F. Burns Fellow in Financial Policy Studies American Enterprise Institute
(0) 202-862-5864
(f) 202-862-4875

From: Parrott, Jim [mailto:James M Parrott@who.eop.gov]
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 6:55 PM

To: Peter J. Wallison

Subject: Re:

Thanks- helpful to hear that from you.

And lord knows it's not too late to talk to friends on the hill- they seem a bit misdirected.

Take care.

----- Original Message -----

From: Peter J. Wallison [mailto:PWallison@AEl.org]
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 06:43 PM

To: Parrott, Jim

Subject: RE:
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Thanks, Jim. I'm sorry that | was out of touch here in Colorado most of the morning. | saw the Treasury press release,
and responded to a call from Bloomberg, but did not have an opportunity to discuss my views with friends on the Hill. |
thought this was the best move that could have been made under the circumstances. It removes the advantages of
delay, which were on the side of F&F's boosters. Nice work.

Very best, Peter

Peter J. Wallison
Arthur F. Burns Fellow in Financial Policy Studies American Enterprise Institute
(0) 202-862-5864
(f) 202-862-4875

From: Parrott, Jim [mailto:James M Parrott@who.eop.gov]
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 6:01 PM

To: Peter J. Wallison

Subject:

Good comment in Bloomberg- you are exactly right on substance and intent.
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From: Bowler, Timothy
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 3:42 PM
To: Parrott, Jim

I focused on contract and build....

FHFA identifies three strategic goals for the next phase of the conservatorships:

* Build. Build a new infrastructure for the secondary mortgage market;

* Contract. Gradually contract the Enterprises’ dominant presence in the marketplace while simplifying and
shrinking their operations; and

* Maintain. Maintain foreclosure prevention activities and credit availability for new and refinanced
mortgages.

From: Parrott, Jim [mailto:James_M_Parrott@who.eop.gov]

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 3:20 PM

To: Bowler, Timothy

Subject: RE: Garrett Statement on Treasury Decision to Amend Terms of Fannie and Freddie Bailout

will call him, but this the right answer?

we’ve closed off possibility that they every go (pretend) private again and sped up the clock on the wind-down of their
portfolio, all while increasing the stability of the market by removing concern that these guys run out of support before
we have a place to which to transition.

from below seems like you’d want to give up on some or all of that to force Congress to make a decision. strikes me as
mighty high risk (and pessimistic about the prospects that we, collectively, would want to sort this out).

From: Russell, Chris [mailto:Chris.Russell@mail.house.gov]

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 2:34 PM

To: Parrott, Jim

Subject: Re: Garrett Statement on Treasury Decision to Amend Terms of Fannie and Freddie Bailout

Preference is not to have two defacto public utilities with a $274 bill capital cushion
Where is the impetus now to deal with the issue? The dividends were initially set like that for a reason

In regards to them keeping additional profits, in my mind that is only an accounting issue, gov recoups now (per
new method) or later when we liquidate them and then realize those gains for the taxpayer

As far as market perception, I don't think current yields on agencies indicate any additional concerns by
investors - and I think it's a good thing if investors realize they won't always have 90 percent of mortgage
market going through government, then there might be incentives for market participants to develop some new
methods to get mortgages to investors

If' T am a potential issuer now, what incentive do j have with a higher regulatory burden via dfa and higher costs
vs gse's?? None
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Does this make sense?

Sent from my iPhone

On Aug 17, 2012, at 2:05 PM, "Parrott, Jim" <James_M_Parrott@who.eop.gov> wrote:

your preference would be to continue to have them pay a dividend that in any given month either
requires them to eat into their headroom under the caps (after next year), scaring the hell out of the
market, or pays less than their profits in that quarter, allowing them to recapitalize? idea being, | guess,
that the former will force congress to act?

From: Russell, Chris [mailto:Chris.Russell@mail.house.gov]

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 1:57 PM

To: Parrott, Jim

Subject: Re: Garrett Statement on Treasury Decision to Amend Terms of Fannie and Freddie Bailout

It MIGHT be net positive WHEN they r turning a profit

But based on the discussions I had this morning with other experts in the field, the consensus is
that this essentially removes any pressure points to do something eventually with them and puts
it well after 16. As u well know, politicians sometimes don't act unless they are forced to

Happy to talk with u on it whenever

202-870-8348

Sent from my iPhone

On Aug 17, 2012, at 1:37 PM, "Parrott, Jim" <James M _Parrott@who.eop.gov> wrote:

must say that this caught me by surprise. we’re not reducing their dividend but including
in it every dime these guys make going forward and ensuring that they can’t
recapitalize.

if there’s any misunderstanding give me a shout- glad to loop you into cap markets folks
to clarify.

From: Rice, Adam [mailto:Adam.Rice@mail.house.gov]

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 12:52 PM

To: Rice, Adam

Subject: Garrett Statement on Treasury Decision to Amend Terms of Fannie and Freddie

Bailout
<image001.jpg>
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Contact: Amy Smith
August 17, 2012 Phone: 202-225-4465
2
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Garrett Statement on Treasury Decision to Amend Terms of Fannie
and Freddie Bailout

WASHINGTON, DC - Rep. Scott Garrett (R-NJ), Chairman of the House
Financial Services Subcommittee on Capital Markets and Government-Sponsored
Enterprises issued the following statement today after the Treasury Department
announced a plan to reduce the dividend rate paid to the Secretary of the Treasury
on senior preferred stock of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac:

“Today’s announcement from the Treasury Department is yet another example of
the Obama Administration continuing to kick-the-can on important policy decisions
instead of working with Congress to enact meaningful reform. The reduction of the
dividend payments for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will ensure the American
taxpayers remain on the hook for the bailout of these two failed institutions for the
foreseeable future. The crony-capitalism that has become a centerpiece of the
Administration’s failed economic policy must come to an end. This decision is a slap
in the face to the hardworking American taxpayers who deserve to be compensated
and fully repaid for their dollars that fueled the government takeover of the
mortgage twins. Instead of devoting time and energy towards prolonging bailouts,
the Obama Administration should work with Congress to wind these companies
down and create a new and sustainable housing finance system where taxpayers are
not at risk.”

Hi#
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From: Parrott, Jim <James_M_Parrott@who.eop.gov>
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 8:46 AM

To: Bowler, Timothy; Miller, Mary

Subject: FW: Nice - I like it

all the investors will get this very quickly.

From: Mary Goodman [mailto:Mary.Goodman@jaecredit.com]
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 8:45 AM

To: Parrott, Jim

Subject: Nice - I like it

Nice - | like it. The assessment | shared with my colleagues is below - FWIW.

sekok ok ok

Key issues:
e Faster reduction of mortgage portfolios (not clear whether this implies net sales or whether would be consistent
with runoff)
e Ends the payment of high-coupon dividends on USG pref shares — replaces that with a “full income sweep”
quarterly — so no chance that GSEs recap themselves through higher earnings

This should have the effect of stretching out the $$$ which the USG has pledged in the backstops to the GSEs. The total
$SS amount on those backstops gets locked in at the end of this year. By ending the high-coupon dividend payments,
Treasury reduces the “draws” on the backstops from any quarterly loss. So it leaves more money in the backstop to
cover any future real losses that might materialize. (That money could also cover any losses that were materialized
through some sort of future restructuring operation in coming years.)

The principle of ‘full income sweep of all future earnings to benefit taxpayers” should lay to rest permanently the idea
that the outstanding privately held pref will ever get turned back on.

From: Mary Goodman

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 8:35 AM

To: Robert Miller; Frederic Ryser; Daniel Gish; Randy Masel; Simon Park; Eugene Burger; Richard Labriola; Dylan Minert
Subject: Treasury Announcement

Treasury Department Announces Further Steps to Expedite Wind Down of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac

8/17/2012
Page Content

Modifications to Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements Will Make Sure That Every Dollar of Earnings Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
Generate Will Benefit Taxpayers

Announcement Will Support the Continued Flow of Mortgage Credit
during a Responsible Transition to a Reformed Housing Finance Market

1

UST00517664



Case 1:13-cv-00465-MMS Document 334-6 Filed 06/21/16 Page 99 of 163

WASHINGTON -- The U.S. Department of the Treasury today announced a set of modifications to the Preferred Stock Purchase
Agreements (PSPAs) between the Treasury Department and the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) as conservator of Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac (the Government Sponsored Enterprises or GSEs) that will help expedite the wind down of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, make sure that every dollar of earnings each firm generates is used to benefit taxpayers, and support the continued flow
of mortgage credit during a responsible transition to a reformed housing finance market.

“With today’s announcement, we are taking the next step toward responsibly winding down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, while
continuing to support the necessary process of repair and recovery in the housing market,” said Michael Stegman, Counselor to the
Secretary of the Treasury for Housing Finance Policy. “As we continue to work toward bi-partisan housing finance reform, we are
committed to putting in place measures right now that support continued access to mortgage credit for American families, promote a
responsible transition, and protect taxpayer interests.”

The modifications to the PSPAs announced today are consistent with FHFA's strategic plan for the conservatorship of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac that it released in February 2012. The modifications include the following key components:

Accelerated Wind Down of the Retained Mortgage Investment Portfolios at Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

The agreements require an accelerated reduction of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's investment portfolios. Those portfolios will now be
wound down at an annual rate of 15 percent — an increase from the 10 percent annual reduction required in the previous agreements.
As a result of this change, the GSEs' investment portfolios must be reduced to the $250 billion target set in the previous agreements
four years earlier than previously scheduled.

Annual Taxpayer Protection Plan

To support a thoughtfully managed wind down, the agreements require that on an annual basis, each GSE will — under the direction of
their conservator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency — submit a plan to Treasury on its actions to reduce taxpayer exposure to
mortgage credit risk for both its guarantee book of business and retained investment portfolio.

Full Income Sweep of All Future Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Earnings to Benefit Taxpayers for Their Investment

The agreements will replace the 10 percent dividend payments made to Treasury on its preferred stock investments in Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac with a quarterly sweep of every dollar of profit that each firm earns going forward.

This will help achieve several important objectives, including:

Making sure that every dollar of earnings that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac generate will be used to benefit taxpayers for their
investment in those firms.

Ending the circular practice of the Treasury advancing funds to the GSEs simply to pay dividends back to Treasury.

Acting upon the commitment made in the Administration’s 2011 White Paper that the GSEs will be wound down and will not be allowed
to retain profits, rebuild capital, and return to the market in their prior form.

Supporting the continued flow of mortgage credit by providing borrowers, market participants, and taxpayers with additional confidence
in the ability of the GSEs to meet their commitments while operating under conservatorship.

Providing greater market certainty regarding the financial strength of the GSEs.

For a copy of the modification agreements for the PSPAs, please visit, link and link.

i

The content of this email and any attachments (“the email”) is confidential and may be read and used only by the intended recipient. If you are not the intended
recipient please notify us by return email or telephone and erase all copies and do not disclose the email or any part of it to any person. The email has been sent
from JAE Credit Management LP. Email communication cannot be guaranteed to be reliable, secure, error-free or virus-free. Accordingly, we do not accept
responsibility for any viruses, inaccuracy, incompleteness or failure to deliver promptly or at all, information exchanged between you and us by this means. You are
deemed to have accepted these risks if you communicate with us by email.
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From: ExecSecProcessUnit

Sent: Tuesday, April 24, 2012 10:29 AM

To: TFG75

Cc: ExecSecProcessUnit; ExecSecStaff

Subject: California and Nevada Trip Notes
Attachments: _R LA and Vegas Trip Notes 2012-04-24.docx
Sir,

Please find pasted below and attached a note from U/S Miller regarding her recent travels to
California and Nevada. Sam Valverde is available for any comments for questions that may arise.

NOTE FOR SECRETARY GEITHNER
DEPUTY SECRETARY WOLIN

FROM: Mary Miller, Under Secretary for Domestic Finance
SUBJECT: California and Nevada Trip Notes

I traveled to Los Angeles last week to meet with a variety of investment managers in advance of a speech in
Nevada to the National Federation of Municipal Analysts and a meeting with the Nevada Hardest Hit Fund. I
was accompanied by Bret Hester.

In Los Angeles, we met with equity and fixed-income portfolio managers and analysts from Capital Group,
TCW, and Western Asset Management Company (WAMCO). All of the investors we met with asked a number
of questions about both the progress and substance of regulatory reform implementation. They were interested
in the implications for the financial sector in particular, both from the perspective of their investment decisions
and from the perspective of how liquidity and capital commitments provided by their bank counterparties might
be affected. They were also all very interested in the status of housing finance reform, and the capping of
support under the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (PSPAs) at the end of this year. Finally, all were
interested in our debt management strategy, including the possible issuance of floating rate notes, and plans for
dealing with the fiscal cliff at the end of 2012.

Regulatory Reform Implementation:

The Capital Group team asked a number of questions about the bank stress tests. While noting that the
Comprehensive Capital Adequacy Review (CCAR) is far more credible than the European Banking Authority
stress tests, they questioned whether the CCAR is still overly countercyclical. They suggested that it would be
useful to run a variety of more speculative scenarios and assess how the potential fallout from those scenarios
might affect capital levels.

All of the investors that we met with expressed considerable concern about money market fund reform. TCW
noted that it is closing its relatively small money market fund (approximately $100 million), due to both the
marginal economics of running the fund in the current interest rate environment as well as uncertainty about
upcoming regulatory changes. They noted that, unlike other mutual fund products where it is important to
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establish an investment track record for purposes of marketing, it would be relatively easy to restart a money
market fund in the future because money market funds are sold on the basis of the reputation of the manager
and their current yield rather than their track record.

WAMCO discussed the various money market fund proposals the SEC is reportedly considering and thought
that the capital buffer offers the most promise for a workable solution. Their view is that the holdback proposal
would have very negative implications for the industry. With respect to floating NAV proposals, they indicated
that they would likely be able to maintain a significant investor base under such a scenario, but that other fund
complexes would likely lose significant assets. They also noted that they thought one likely outcome of the
reform proposals overall would be for a much more concentrated industry, centered around bank

sponsors. WAMCO also noted that the SEC had signaled to WAMCO that the SEC was being pressured to
push forward with reform by other regulators, the Federal Reserve in particular.

WAMCO also asked about the implications of financial regulatory reform with respect to financial institutions’
willingness to commit capital and provide needed market liquidity. They noted that liquidity has decreased
significantly from pre-crisis levels (although has recently showed signs of rebounding) and that dealers’
inventory positions have shrunk meaningfully. They acknowledged that much of the reduced liquidity is
attributable to the economic environment and firms’ “damaged risk profiles” but asserted that reduced liquidity
is also attributable to uncertainty about regulatory requirements. As one example, they pointed to the fact that
all stand-alone proprietary trading desks have been shuttered and that alternative liquidity providers have not
yet emerged. WAMCO also acknowledged, however, that the market is perhaps returning to a more normalized
liquidity environment, and that the “instant liquidity” environment that prevailed in the decade leading up to the
crisis did not necessarily reflect an optimal scenario. Finally, they noted that trading is increasingly dominated
by a smaller fraction of the market; in other words, the most liquid issues and biggest names (e.g., Ford) are
trading more frequently whereas less liquid issues are trading less.

We also briefly touched on Moody’s anticipated downgrades of the banking sector. Capital Group indicated
that they were not particularly concerned, but were avoiding the weakest names in the sector, which they
identified as Morgan Stanley, followed by Goldman Sachs. They noted that bank funding models continue to
strengthen, with more terming out of repo and less reliance on non-traditional repo. They also believe that
strong deposit bases are helping to reduce banks’ reliance on short-term funding. Investment banking
operations are the exception to this general trend.

Housing Finance Reform:

All of the investors we met with were very interested in the status of housing finance reform. They were
generally pessimistic about the prospects of any legislative developments this year but indicated that further
guidance from the Administration about its views on the future of housing finance and Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac would be helpful to the market. There was considerable interest in any plans to address the PSPAs before
they are capped at the end of this year. Capital Group indicated that it had done a fair amount of work
analyzing the sufficiency of the PSPAs and thought that they provide “adequate protection” for investors.
WAMCO and TCW asked if there were any plans for Fannie and Freddie to dispose of assets and recognize
additional losses before the PSPAs are capped. WAMCO also noted that it did not believe the market was
sufficiently focused on the fact that the PSPAs will be capped at the end of 2012.

In addition to asking about the next steps on housing finance reform, TCW said that it is important to show
action towards the goals set out in the White Paper. Their view is that either nothing is happening or the actions
that are being taken are going in the opposite direction of the objectives set forth in the White Paper, such as the
extension of higher conforming loan limits. While they acknowledged that is important for the housing market
to heal before meaningful housing finance reform can proceed, they urged the government (collectively
referencing Congress and the Administration) not to send “misleading signals.”
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The Capital Group team noted that it is challenging to attract new investors to housing-focused funds while so
much uncertainty remains over what the market will look like in the future. As one example, they referenced
the difficulty they had recently experienced in writing a prospectus for a new mortgage-focused fund because of
the lack of clarity about how investment opportunities might evolve.

Debt Management / Fiscal Situation:

All of the investors we met with were concerned about a repeat of the debt-limit impasse from August 2011,
focusing on the fiscal cliff at the end of 2012 when we will approach the debt limit, tax cuts will expire, and the
automatic sequester will begin to take effect. The Capital Group inquired whether planning was already
underway to allocate the cuts that will be required by the automatic sequester. Despite expressing concerns
about the debt limit and the fiscal situation, the teams we met with indicated that these concerns were not
currently reflected in their portfolios. The general consensus was that U.S. Treasuries remain the most
attractive and safest option compared to other sovereign debt. The investment teams we met with were still
concerned about tail risks in Europe and indicated they had been reducing their European exposure into recent
strength in those markets.

The fixed-income investors were interested in Treasury’s possible issuance of floating rate notes. They did,
however, emphasize the importance of maintaining sufficient Treasury bill issuance to support market
demand. TCW raised the idea of using a one- or two-year Constant Maturity Treasury (CMT) as the reference
rate for a floating rate note, with the note trading at a negative spread to the CMT rate. With respect to making
floating rate notes eligible for money market funds, TCW proposed either allowing the note to be puttable at a
discount after, e.g., two years, or puttable at par after having been issued at a premium.

Nevada Hardest Hit Fund (HHF):

In Las Vegas, we met with representatives from the Nevada HHF. They are working to help their range of
assistance programs reach as many homeowners as possible. They have just started a new program with the
Nevada employment assistance agency to identify unemployed individuals who may be able to benefit from
HHF programs.

They indicated that the housing market is so bleak that homeowners have been reluctant to seek assistance from
the HHF that may only provide limited relief. For example, the prospect of $50,000 of principal reduction may
not be enough to encourage homeowners who are hundreds of thousands of dollars underwater to

participate. Additionally, they indicated that at least 90 percent of Nevada homeowners have mortgages backed
by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and have therefore not been able to participate in the Nevada HHF’s principal
reduction program. The Nevada HHF is working on rolling out a new program as early as May that will work
in conjunction with HARP to reach this broader universe of homeowners.

The Nevada HHF identified their second lien relief program as their most successful program to date. Their
second lien program requires elimination, rather than just reduction, of any second lien. They indicated that
their funds are able to leverage significant additional write-downs, with $16,500 of HHF assistance having
facilitated the elimination of a second lien as big $130,000.
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Approved: Domestic Finance — Under Secretary Mary Miller (4/23/12)
Cleared: Exec Sec — Sam Valverde (4/24/12)
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
WASHINGTON, D.C.

UNDER SECRETARY

NOTE FOR SECRETARY GEITHNER
DEPUTY SECRETARY WOLIN

FROM: Mary Miller, Under Secretary for Domestic Finance
SUBJECT: California and Nevada Trip Notes

I traveled to Los Angeles last week to meet with a variety of investment managers in advance of
a speech in Nevada to the National Federation of Municipal Analysts and a meeting with the
Nevada Hardest Hit Fund. I was accompanied by Bret Hester.

In Los Angeles, we met with equity and fixed-income portfolio managers and analysts from
Capital Group, TCW, and Western Asset Management Company (WAMCO). All of the
investors we met with asked a number of questions about both the progress and substance of
regulatory reform implementation. They were interested in the implications for the financial
sector in particular, both from the perspective of their investment decisions and from the
perspective of how liquidity and capital commitments provided by their bank counterparties
might be affected. They were also all very interested in the status of housing finance reform, and
the capping of support under the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (PSPAs) at the end of
this year. Finally, all were interested in our debt management strategy, including the possible
issuance of floating rate notes, and plans for dealing with the fiscal cliff at the end of 2012.

Regulatory Reform Implementation:

The Capital Group team asked a number of questions about the bank stress tests. While noting
that the Comprehensive Capital Adequacy Review (CCAR) is far more credible than the
European Banking Authority stress tests, they questioned whether the CCAR is still overly
countercyclical. They suggested that it would be useful to run a variety of more speculative
scenarios and assess how the potential fallout from those scenarios might affect capital levels.

All of the investors that we met with expressed considerable concern about money market fund
reform. TCW noted that it is closing its relatively small money market fund (approximately
$100 million), due to both the marginal economics of running the fund in the current interest rate
environment as well as uncertainty about upcoming regulatory changes. They noted that, unlike
other mutual fund products where it is important to establish an investment track record for
purposes of marketing, it would be relatively easy to restart a money market fund in the future
because money market funds are sold on the basis of the reputation of the manager and their
current yield rather than their track record.

WAMCO discussed the various money market fund proposals the SEC is reportedly considering
and thought that the capital buffer offers the most promise for a workable solution. Their view is
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that the holdback proposal would have very negative implications for the industry. With respect
to floating NAV proposals, they indicated that they would likely be able to maintain a significant
investor base under such a scenario, but that other fund complexes would likely lose significant
assets. They also noted that they thought one likely outcome of the reform proposals overall
would be for a much more concentrated industry, centered around bank sponsors. WAMCO also
noted that the SEC had signaled to WAMCO that the SEC was being pressured to push forward
with reform by other regulators, the Federal Reserve in particular.

WAMCO also asked about the implications of financial regulatory reform with respect to
financial institutions’ willingness to commit capital and provide needed market liquidity. They
noted that liquidity has decreased significantly from pre-crisis levels (although has recently
showed signs of rebounding) and that dealers’ inventory positions have shrunk meaningfully.
They acknowledged that much of the reduced liquidity is attributable to the economic
environment and firms’ “damaged risk profiles” but asserted that reduced liquidity is also
attributable to uncertainty about regulatory requirements. As one example, they pointed to the
fact that all stand-alone proprietary trading desks have been shuttered and that alternative
liquidity providers have not yet emerged. WAMCO also acknowledged, however, that the
market is perhaps returning to a more normalized liquidity environment, and that the “instant
liquidity” environment that prevailed in the decade leading up to the crisis did not necessarily
reflect an optimal scenario. Finally, they noted that trading is increasingly dominated by a
smaller fraction of the market; in other words, the most liquid issues and biggest names (e.g.,
Ford) are trading more frequently whereas less liquid issues are trading less.

We also briefly touched on Moody’s anticipated downgrades of the banking sector. Capital
Group indicated that they were not particularly concerned, but were avoiding the weakest names
in the sector, which they identified as Morgan Stanley, followed by Goldman Sachs. They noted
that bank funding models continue to strengthen, with more terming out of repo and less reliance
on non-traditional repo. They also believe that strong deposit bases are helping to reduce banks’
reliance on short-term funding. Investment banking operations are the exception to this general
trend.

Housing Finance Reform:

All of the investors we met with were very interested in the status of housing finance reform.
They were generally pessimistic about the prospects of any legislative developments this year
but indicated that further guidance from the Administration about its views on the future of
housing finance and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac would be helpful to the market. There was
considerable interest in any plans to address the PSPAs before they are capped at the end of this
year. Capital Group indicated that it had done a fair amount of work analyzing the sufficiency of
the PSPAs and thought that they provide “adequate protection” for investors. WAMCO and
TCW asked if there were any plans for Fannie and Freddie to dispose of assets and recognize
additional losses before the PSPAs are capped. WAMCO also noted that it did not believe the
market was sufficiently focused on the fact that the PSPAs will be capped at the end of 2012.

In addition to asking about the next steps on housing finance reform, TCW said that it is
important to show action towards the goals set out in the White Paper. Their view is that either
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nothing is happening or the actions that are being taken are going in the opposite direction of the
objectives set forth in the White Paper, such as the extension of higher conforming loan limits.
While they acknowledged that is important for the housing market to heal before meaningful
housing finance reform can proceed, they urged the government (collectively referencing
Congress and the Administration) not to send “misleading signals.”

The Capital Group team noted that it is challenging to attract new investors to housing-focused
funds while so much uncertainty remains over what the market will look like in the future. As
one example, they referenced the difficulty they had recently experienced in writing a prospectus
for a new mortgage-focused fund because of the lack of clarity about how investment
opportunities might evolve.

Debt Management / Fiscal Situation:

All of the investors we met with were concerned about a repeat of the debt-limit impasse from
August 2011, focusing on the fiscal cliff at the end of 2012 when we will approach the debt limit,
tax cuts will expire, and the automatic sequester will begin to take effect. The Capital Group
inquired whether planning was already underway to allocate the cuts that will be required by the
automatic sequester. Despite expressing concerns about the debt limit and the fiscal situation,
the teams we met with indicated that these concerns were not currently reflected in their
portfolios. The general consensus was that U.S. Treasuries remain the most attractive and safest
option compared to other sovereign debt. The investment teams we met with were still
concerned about tail risks in Europe and indicated they had been reducing their European
exposure into recent strength in those markets.

The fixed-income investors were interested in Treasury’s possible issuance of floating rate notes.
They did, however, emphasize the importance of maintaining sufficient Treasury bill issuance to
support market demand. TCW raised the idea of using a one- or two-year Constant Maturity
Treasury (CMT) as the reference rate for a floating rate note, with the note trading at a negative
spread to the CMT rate. With respect to making floating rate notes eligible for money market
funds, TCW proposed either allowing the note to be puttable at a discount after, e.g., two years,
or puttable at par after having been issued at a premium.

Nevada Hardest Hit Fund (HHF):

In Las Vegas, we met with representatives from the Nevada HHF. They are working to help
their range of assistance programs reach as many homeowners as possible. They have just
started a new program with the Nevada employment assistance agency to identify unemployed
individuals who may be able to benefit from HHF programs.

They indicated that the housing market is so bleak that homeowners have been reluctant to seek
assistance from the HHF that may only provide limited relief. For example, the prospect of
$50,000 of principal reduction may not be enough to encourage homeowners who are hundreds
of thousands of dollars underwater to participate. Additionally, they indicated that at least 90
percent of Nevada homeowners have mortgages backed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and have
therefore not been able to participate in the Nevada HHF s principal reduction program. The
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Nevada HHF is working on rolling out a new program as early as May that will work in
conjunction with HARP to reach this broader universe of homeowners.

The Nevada HHF identified their second lien relief program as their most successful program to
date. Their second lien program requires elimination, rather than just reduction, of any second
lien. They indicated that their funds are able to leverage significant additional write-downs, with
$16,500 of HHF assistance having facilitated the elimination of a second lien as big $130,000.
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KEY FRAMING / TALKING POINTS

We are announcing steps to wind-down the enterprises more quickly and responsibly and
make sure they are not allowed to recapitalize and return to the market in their prior form.

First, we will increase the minimum amount by which they wind-down their portfolios
from 10 percent to 15 percent a year, which will mean they hit their wind down target
four years earlier than currently scheduled.

Second, each year, both enterprises will have to submit to Treasury a detailed plan to
reduce taxpayer exposure to the mortgage market, which will help us manage their wind-
down thoughtfully and responsibly.

And third, we are replacing the circular 10 percent annual dividend obligation with a
quarterly sweep of all of their net income in that period, so that every dollar of profit they
make goes back to the taxpayer. That full income sweep will mean that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac will be not be allowed to retain their profits, rebuild capital, and return to the
market in their prior form.

In making these changes, Treasury is protecting the taxpayers’ interest and supporting the
continued flow of mortgage credit to households during a time of ongoing market stress.

And for capital markets folks:

By reducing the GSEs’ need to continue to borrow unnecessarily from the Treasury to
pay the dividend, gradually chipping away at their caps, these changes will also enable
the GSEs to provide consistent, reliable support to the mortgage market as we wind them
down and transition to a new system in the years to come.

MOST CHALLENGING QUESTIONS

1. Aren’t you giving up a 10 percent dividend owed to taxpayers to prop up the GSEs?

This is wrong. We are putting in place a better deal for taxpayers.

This is because, going forward, each of these entities pays the taxpayer back all the profit
they make -- not just a 10 percent dividend.

Today, when a GSE loses money, it has to borrow money from Treasury to pay Treasury
back — a circular process that isn’t helping taxpayers. And when the GSEs make a profit,
as they did last quarter, they don’t have to pay all of that back to taxpayers.

The new arrangement changes that — it ends the shell game and makes sure that all profit
goes where it should, to repaying taxpayers.

2. You say you are requiring they pay back all profits, but the agreement creates a $3
billion reserve fund for the GSEs? Why?

This agreement requires that the GSEs return all profits back to the taxpayer, period.

Over the next five years, a modest, temporary reserve account will protect taxpayers from
having to inject more capital into the GSEs due to short term swings in earnings.

(9%}
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But 100 percent of the funds in the reserve account, and 100 percent of the profit of these
entities generate, will be returned to Treasury and ultimately to taxpayers.

3. Why didn’t you use your leverage in negotiating this arrangement to force the GSEs to
do principal reduction?

As you know we have been aggressive and public in our position that the FHFA should
allow the GSEs to provide principal reduction.

While we remain adamant that that is the right position, and disappointed with FHFA’s
response to date, as an independent regulator and conservator of the two GSEs, FHFA is
solely responsible for the ultimate decision whether the GSEs can participate or not.

The PSPA amendments, which require the agreement of both Treasury and the FHFA, do
not change that fact. We will continue to advocate for their participation, but it is
ultimately up to FHFA.

4. Does this change simply open the door to keeping the GSEs on perpetual life support
rather than winding them down?

The opposite is true. With today’s announcement, we are achieving three key things:

o We are accelerating our commitment to responsibly wind down the GSEs and end
forever their flawed model of privatized benefits and socialized losses;

o By requiring the GSEs to increase the pace of reducing their retained portfolios
from 10 percent to 15 percent per year, we are accelerating that wind down;

o We are mandating the development of an annual plan that details the steps the
GSEs will take to reduce their financial and operational risk profile

By taking all of their profits going forward, we are making clear that the GSEs will not
ever be allowed to return to profitable entities at the center of our housing finance system.

Reinforces the Administration’s commitment to responsibly wind down these institutions
and replace them with a system driven by private capital with lower risk to taxpayers.

GENERAL QUESTIONS

5. What were the last terms of the Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (PSPAs)?

When the GSEs were put into conservatorship in 2008, Treasury entered into a Preferred
Stock Purchase Agreement with each GSE in order to protect the housing market.

In any quarter when the GSEs’ assets were less than their liabilities, Treasury agreed to
provide capital, in the form of senior preferred stock, to ensure the GSEs’ solvency.

The dividend rate on the senior preferred stock is currently 10% and will be changed to a
“net worth sweep” as a result of the modification announced today.

To date, Treasury has provided $116.2 billion of capital to Fannie Mae and earned $25.4
billion of dividends, and provided $71.3 billion of capital to Freddie Mac and earned
$20.1 billion of dividends.
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6. What does this agreement change?

o Replace the fixed 10 percent dividend with a net worth sweep dividend — Quarterly
dividend payments starting in 2013 will equal the positive net worth of the GSEs (i.e.,
GAARP assets less liabilities at quarter end), less a defined Capital Reserve Amount.

o Accelerate the wind-down of the retained investment portfolios — The required reduction
rate for the retained investment portfolios will be increased to 15 percent from 10 percent
per annum beginning at year-end 2013 (from a base amount of $650 billion at year end).

o The annual cap will decline from $650 billion at year end 2012 to $250 billion in
2018 ($250 billion is the “wind down” target in the existing PSPA)

o Under the existing agreement, the $250 billion cap will not be reached until 2022

o Note: the current retained porifolio size at Fannie Mae is $673 billion and the
retained portfolio size at Freddie Mac is $581 billion (as of June 30, 2012).

e Require an annual taxpayer protection plan be delivered to Treasury — In order to help
protect taxpayers from future losses, each year the GSEs will submit a plan that details
the steps it will take to reduce the financial and operational risk profile associated with
both their mortgage guarantee and retained investment portfolio businesses

o Suspend the Periodic Commitment Fee setting process — Treasury will continue to
suspend setting any Periodic Commitment Fee, which is an optional fee not utilized to
date intended as an additional means to compensate taxpayers for the financial support
that Treasury provides to the GSEs through the PSPAs. This fee is no longer relevant
because the GSEs will now be paying all of their profits to Treasury.

o Allow for more flexibility when making non ordinary course asset and property sales less
than $250 million in fair market value without prior written consent from Treasury —
Previously, Treasury had to give prior written consent before the GSEs may sell any
assets and properties outside of the GSEs” “ordinary course” of business. In order to
facilitate a more rapid wind-down of the GSEs’ legacy assets, the change will provide the
GSEs and FHFA with the flexibility to sell blocks of assets under $250 million without
Treasury’s written consent.

7. When will these changes become effective?

e The amendment is effective immediately, and the dividend payment change first applies
to the GSEs’ financial results as of March 31, 2013 (i.e. the end of the first quarter).

8. What is the purpose, necessity and benefits of these changes?

e In making these changes, Treasury has sought to achieve two key objectives: (1)
protecting the taxpayers’ interest, and (2) ensuring the continued flow of mortgage credit
to households during a time of ongoing market stress.

e The proposed modification has several benefits.
o Taxpayers will receive every dollar of profit the GSEs make.

o It reduces the risk of future draws under the PSPAs as future draws will only be
needed to fund operating losses.
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= This eliminates the circularity associated with the GSE’s drawing from
Treasury in order to pay Treasury the 10 percent dividend.

o Preserves remaining capacity for its original intended use — to support the
financial capacity of the GSEs so they can continue providing mortgage finance to
families.

o Provides financial clarity for investors in the GSEs MBS & debt instruments.
How much PSPA funding capacity is remaining for each GSE?

o After 2012, the funding capacity cap under the PSPAs will be fixed permanently, and the
remaining PSPA funding capacity will be limited to approximately $149 billion for
Freddie Mac and $125 billion for Fannie Mae.

Without this amendment, would the GSEs have become insolvent? If so, when?

e The GSEs’ future earnings will depend upon a variety of factors, including the pace of
repair and recovery in the housing market, the path of home prices, and how those firms
our wound down.

e In some quarters, such as the most recent quarter, the GSEs have generated earnings
greater than their 10 percent dividend, allowing them to retain profits.

e In other quarters, the GSEs have been unable to generate sufficient earnings to fully pay
their 10 percent dividend — creating a circular practice where the GSEs use draws from
Treasury to simply pay dividends back to Treasury.

e The changes will take both those issues off the table in a way that protects taxpayer
interests and better supports the housing market.

e The modifications will ensure that all future positive earnings from the GSEs will be used
to pay back taxpayers for their investment in those firms — and that Fannie and Freddie
will not be permitted to rebuild capital as they are wound down.

e Additionally, the changes would reduce future PSPA draws and ensure that those draws
are dedicated to supporting the housing market. That will help maintain the continued
flow of mortgage credit during a responsible transition by providing the market with
greater confidence about the GSEs’ ability to meet their commitments.

How does the net worth sweep operate?

e Beginning with the financial results as of 1Q 2013, and each quarter thereafter, all
positive net worth above a pre-set Capital Reserve Amount will be transferred to
Treasury in the form of a dividend.

o Net worth is defined as net assets minus net liabilities (per GAAP).

o No dividends are paid or accrued when there is a net worth deficit or net worth is
below the Capital Reserve Amount.

e Over time, this will result in all comprehensive income generated by the GSEs being paid
to the government and thus the taxpayer.

UST00554586



Case 1:13-cv-00465-MMS Document 334-6 Filed 06/21/16 Page 135 of 163

Current as of 8/16/2012 at 10:51 AM
Sensitive and Pre-Decisional

12. Why not just lower the dividend rate to S percent and allow the GSEs to use earnings to
pay back the capital Treasury has invested in them?

e Lowering the dividend percent paid would reduce the amount taxpayers are reimbursed
for their substantial contribution made to support the GSEs.

e We made these changes to make sure that these entities pay the taxpayer every dollar of
profit that they make.

13. Why can’t the GSE simply use profits to buy back preferred stock from Treasury?

e Similar to reducing the dividend rate, this would have reduced the amount taxpayers are
reimbursed for their substantial contribution made to support the GSEs.

14. How large is the Capital Reserve Amount and why does it exist?
e This agreement requires that the GSEs return all profits back to taxpayers.

e There is a modest, temporary Capital Reserve Amount is $3.0 billion in 2013 and will
decrease by $600 million per annum until it reaches zero in 2018.

e The Capital Reserve Amount will provide a cushion against temporary swings in the
GSEs earnings due to accounting and hedging practices (i.e. mark-to-market volatility).

e Inclusion of a modest, temporary buffer will protect the taxpayer from having to inject
more capital into the GSEs due to quarterly losses that are driven by swings in earnings
as result of mark-to-market volatility (note: if Treasury has to inject funds due to mark-
to-market volatility it will reduce the finite PSPA capacity going forward).

e The Reserve will fall over time in conjunction with the reduction in the GSEs investment
portfolios, which historically have been the key drivers in earnings swings.

e 100 percent of the funds in the reserve account, and 100 percent of the profit that these
entities generate, will ultimately be returned to taxpayers.

15. What information will be included in the “Taxpayer Protection Plan” that Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac submit to Treasury? What is the report’s purpose? Are there any
enforcement or accountability mechanisms?

e Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will be required to submit a risk management action plan
each year that will provide clear goals and timetables for the GSEs to reduce risk in each
of their core business segments.

e Inthe plan, the GSEs will lay out, in reasonable detail, specific goals, targets and
timetables so both Treasury and their conservator, FHFA, have a clear understanding of
how they will improve their management of risk.

o  We expect the implementation of the plans will result in a number of meaningful steps
that will reduce taxpayer exposure to the GSEs. These will likely include:

o Working with private investors to syndicate a portion of the credit risk associated
with their mortgage guarantees;

o Selling complex securities in their investment portfolios;

o Reducing their non-performing loan balances on a more rapid time table;
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o Shedding other “non-core” assets that were purchased prior to the enterprises
entering into conservatorship.

e FHFA, as the GSEs’ regulator and conservator, will oversee the implementation of the
steps outlined in this report. In addition, each GSE will be required to assess the progress
it has made in meeting the goals and timetables set forth in the previous year’s plan.

16. Why are GSEs allowed to keep portfolios of $250 billion each in 2018 if they are to be
wound down?

e Given the size of the current portfolios, transitioning to a balance of $250 billion in only
six years represents a substantial reduction within a short timeframe.

e We do not believe it is necessary to change the $250 billion portfolio limit at this time.

e Through their portfolios, the GSEs provide critical functions and services to the mortgage
market that will need to exist as long as they are in operation:

o Purchasing multifamily loans that can’t be securitized to make credit available to
the multifamily sector;

o Purchasing loans from community banks to facilitate lending;
o Purchasing delinquent loans bought out of trusts.
17. What is the Periodic Commitment Fee? Has it ever been set?

e The Periodic Commitment Fee is an additional quarterly fee provided for in the original
PSPA agreement that Treasury can charge the GSEs as compensation for the substantial
taxpayer support provided by the PSPAs.

e Treasury may waive the quarterly Periodic Commitment Fee for up to one year at a time
at its sole discretion based on adverse conditions in the mortgage market.

e To date, the fee has been waived by Treasury for two reasons:

o The expected financial draws from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were in excess
of dividends those firms pay back to taxpayers under the PSPAs; accordingly,
setting a PCF would not produce any additional income for taxpayers.

o Setting the PCF could place greater strains on the housing market recovery, which
remains fragile.

18. How will this plan help families seeking mortgage credit, troubled homeowners, and the
broader housing market?

e Preserves available mortgage credit on reasonable terms — Until the private sector
reemerges as a significant source of capital to invest in mortgage credit risk, the GSEs
will continue to serve as a critical provider of liquidity to first-time homebuyers and
borrowers looking to refinance their loans into a lower rate.

o Maintains market confidence in the GSEs’ guarantee obligations — By changing the
former 10 percent dividend to a net worth sweep, this amendment helps preserve
confidence in the market and retains borrowing capacity for future net operating losses.
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e Accelerates the sale of non-performing loans — Selling non-performing loans to private
market participants and their specialty servicers can provide greater assistance to troubled
borrowers, which should help more troubled homeowners stay in their home.

o Fuels the recovery of the housing market and the broader economy — Preserving access to
mortgage credit for creditworthy homebuyers helps reduce excess housing inventory in
communities hit hardest by the housing downturn. Additionally, enabling ongoing
refinancings at lower rates allows more money to be channeled to families’ pockets,
allowing them to pay off debt or allocate funds for other daily expenses.

19. How will these changes help bring private capital back to take credit risk in the
mortgage market?

e This is the next step in the “wind-down” process. In combination with the goals laid out
in FHFA’s strategic plan for the enterprises, these changes will help bring private market
participants back to the housing market in a more meaningful role.

e As part of the taxpayer protection plan, we expect the GSEs to shift credit risk associated
with its mortgage guarantee business to private market participants (i.e. risk syndication).
This will not only help protect taxpayers, but also provide a platform for private investors
to once again take on mortgage credit risk.

20. Why does this agreement exclude a requirement for principal reduction? Did FHFA’s
decision not to accept Treasury’s invitation to participate in HAMP PRA complicate
this agreement on the PSPAs?

e Asyou know Treasury has been aggressive and public in its position that FHFA should
allow the GSEs to provide principal reduction. We continue to help these homeowners
by addressing troubled, non-performing loans.

e While we remain disappointed with FHFA’s decision to not have the GSEs participate in
the HAMP PRA program, we recognize that as an independent regulator and conservator
of the two GSEs, FHFA is solely responsible for the ultimate decision of whether or not
the GSEs may participate.

e Because the PSPAs are financial contracts between Treasury and the GSEs, through
FHFA as their conservator, all changes to the PSPAs needed to receive support and
agreement from both Treasury and FHFA.

21. What were the previous amendments to the PSPAs and why were those made?

e Qver last several years Treasury has taken several steps to ensure the financial stability of
the housing market.

e In September 2008, FHFA, as regulator of the GSEs, placed both into conservatorship.

e At the same time that FHFA placed the GSEs into conservatorship, Treasury provided
capital support by entering into a Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement (PSPA)
with each GSE, acting through FHF A as their conservator. The PSPAs were intended to
provide confidence to the market that the GSEs would remain solvent.

o The initial Treasury funding commitment was $100 billion for each GSE.
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o InMay 2009, Treasury increased the funding commitment caps to $200 billion for
each GSE.

o In December 2009, Treasury replaced the fixed $200 billion cap with a formulaic
cap that increases the amount of capital support available through the PSPAs by
the amount of draws between January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2012.

22. Why didn’t Treasury and FHFA get this right in December 2009? Why must we revisit
this issue again?

e In late 2009, Treasury took an important step to stabilize the GSEs and help ensure the
continued flow of credit into the mortgage market.

e We believe that action was appropriate at the time.

e However, due to the inherent uncertainty of the market, the length of the necessary
transition could not be predicted, nor were we able to foresee how the GSEs’ financial
profile would evolve.

e Given the GSEs improving operating performance and our goal to wind down the
enterprises, we believe this change is appropriate today.

o Potential for near-term earnings to exceed the 10% dividend.
o Need for financial flexibility as the GSEs are wound down over time.
23. Can Treasury make further amendments to the PSPAs? If so, until when?

e Treasury and FHFA have authority to make changes to legal agreements, but changing
amount of remaining capital support that is available to the GSEs would require
Congressional approval.

o Note: Commitment authority was fixed in December of 2009 with the expiration of
Treasury’s authority under HERA.

e Treasury and FHFA do not anticipate additional changes at this time.

24. What control and authority does Treasury have over Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac?
e Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are in conservatorship, with FHFA as their conservator.
e Treasury has no operational control or authority over them.

e Notwithstanding Treasury’s lack of authority or legal mandate over the Enterprises, we
have a common interest in helping families and homeowners as well as protecting the
taxpayers’ interest in the GSEs.

o Note: Treasury and FHFA worked constructively to improve the HARP program
that has led to nearly 500,000 streamlined refinancings over the past 9 months.

25. What enforcement mechanisms ensure the GSEs will meet these new requirements?

e The PSPAs and their amendments constitute legally binding contracts between the GSEs
and Treasury. Therefore, these amendments, like the rest of the agreements are valid and
legally binding obligations.
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FINANCIAL / TAXPAYER IMPACT

26. How does this change impact taxpayers and the federal budget?

e The federal budget will continue to maintain the existing non-budgetary presentation for
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, as it does for the other GSEs.

e All federal programs that provide direct support to the GSEs, including the Senior
Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (PSPAs), are shown on-budget.

e Taxpayers will receive all positive net worth from the GSEs. While limited in value at
this time, Treasury also retains its ability to exercise its GSE stock warrants.

27. How much has the government’s investment in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac cost
taxpayers to date? What is the expected lifetime cost?

e Through June 30, 2012, Fannie Mae has drawn $116.2 billion and Freddie Mac had
drawn $71.3 billion, excluding the initial $1.0 billion liquidation preference for which the
GSEs did not receive cash proceeds.

e Fannie Mae has paid $25.6 billion in dividends back to Treasury and Freddie Mac has
paid $20.1 billion in dividends back to Treasury.

e As aresult, the current net investment in the GSEs is $141.8 billion — $90.6 billion for
Fannie Mae and $51.2 billion for Freddie.

e The overall expected lifetime costs are inherently uncertain. Treasury will continue to
work with FHFA and the GSEs to ensure we maximize proceeds returned to taxpayers.

28. How does this change impact existing preferred and common shareholders, including
community banks? Does this mean their investments are worthless?

e The preferred and common shareholders of the GSEs do not have voting/governance
rights while the GSEs are in conservatorship. These amendments do not change that.

e Because all positive net worth will be swept to Treasury going forward, preferred and
common shareholders should not expect to receive any dividends or economic gains
while the PSPAs are in effect.

e Most community banks have previously written down their preferred stock holdings and
therefore these changes should not affect their financial positions.

HOUSING FINANCE REFORM

29. Will this change reduce the urgency for fundamental long-term housing finance
reform? Moreover, now that the GSEs are profitable again, can they just continue
operating indefinitely as a public utility?

e No. The Administration remains committed to winding down the GSEs, as the PSPA
revisions help accelerate/reinforce, and will continue to work with Congress in a
bipartisan manner to identify a path forward on long-term housing finance reform.

30. Over how long a time period will the transition take place?

e Treasury supports a transition to a long-term housing finance system as soon as practical.
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e We look forward to working with Congress to determine what that future housing system
should look like and the steps needed to get there.

31. When is the Administration going to submit a long-term housing finance reform plan?

e As Secretary Geithner has stated, we are continuing to work with members of Congress
to identify a path forward on housing finance reform.

e At the same time, we’ll continue to put in place measures right now — including today’s
announcement -- that ensure continued access to mortgage credit for American families,
promote a responsible transition, and protect taxpayer interests.

HOMEOWNER IMPACT

32. Why are you giving up leverage with the GSEs by agreeing to make this change without
further concessions? Why didn’t you use this as leverage to get the GSEs to do more to
help homeowners (e.g. principal reduction and/or greater opportunities to refinance)?

e The PSPAs have a very narrow but important scope — to strengthen and stabilize the
financials of the GSEs.

e Treasury remains actively engaged with FHFA in exploring ways to help troubled
homeowners and to facilitate streamlined refinancing activity for those that are current.

33. Will these changes in the PSPAs make it easier for families to buy a home? Will it
lower avg. FICO scores or down payment requirements currently required by lenders?

o We believe that the agreements should give mortgage market participants continued
confidence that the GSEs will fulfill their future obligations as they are wound down.
That should enable them to continue to play a critical role supplying mortgage credit to
families in the near-term until more private capital returns to the market.

e However, access to mortgage credit remains tempered by a still-fragile housing market.

e We are very attuned to the challenges faced by many families seeking to refinance or
obtain a mortgage, especially lower-wealth and first-time homebuyers, and we are
exploring ways to ease the situation.

34. FHFA recently announced plans to raise mortgage guarantee fees by year end. Why is
it necessary to raise the cost of mortgage loans when the market is still struggling?

e Consistent with their strategic plan, FHFA made the decision to raise guarantee fees in
order to help bring back private capital back to the housing market.

IMPACT ON THE HOUSING FINANCE MARKET AND THE GSES

35. How will the net worth sweep reassure investors in GSE obligations?

e This change will eliminate the potential for circularity associated with the GSEs
requesting additional draws to cover dividend payments. This will make sure the finite
amount of PSPA capacity is used only to support the financial stability of the GSEs.

e Given this change, we expect investors to remain confident in the financial stability and
strength of the GSEs and be assured that the GSEs will meet their respective obligations.
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36. What does this change mean for employees at the GSEs? When you say “wind down,”
what do you mean by that if the GSEs can still keep their systems, still retain people
and still have a capital reserve?

e The employees of the GSEs have an important role to play in restoring the strength and
vitality of the housing market and the stability of the GSEs.

e Through their continued dedication and hard work, these valued employees have made
substantial contributions towards achieving these ends.

e By taking steps today to solidify the financials of the GSEs, we are enabling the
employees to continue their efforts to meet these goals.

e The employees of the GSEs will play an important role in the transition to a reformed
housing market that provides a sustainable source of mortgage credit for homeowners.

e Asdiscussed earlier, the Capital Reserve is temporary in nature and exists to protect the
tax payer against future GSEs draws.

37. Will accelerating the wind down of GSEs’ retained portfolio adversely impact their
operations or the housing market?

e No. In fact, it will put the GSEs on more sound financial footing by giving them the
opportunity to reduce their troubled and more complex assets.

38. Will any of the changes affect Freddie Mac differently from Fannie Mae?
e Both GSEs will be required to implement these changes.

e The management of each GSE will tailor their strategies according to their own
individual risk profiles and needs.

TIMING / STRATEGY

39. How long will it take to wind down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac? Why not wind down
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac at a faster pace? Why did you not come out with a
specific proposal for pace of unwind?

e We are seeking to balance our desire to wind down the GSEs as quickly as possible with
the need to help ensure the continued flow of mortgage credit in a fragile housing market.

e Any changes to this system should be made with great care.

e These agreements will give mortgage market participants continued confidence that the
GSEs will be able to fulfill their obligations.

e Any wind down will only be effective as part of a broader plan to reform the housing
market, and that will require bi-partisan support.

40. Why make this change now, particularly after the GSEs had such a profitable quarter?
e We believe this is the appropriate time to take this step for two key reasons:

o The change protects the taxpayers’ interest in the GSEs by ensuring that they will
be the full beneficiary of any profits that the GSEs generate;

UST00554593



Case 1:13-cv-00465-MMS Document 334-6 Filed 06/21/16 Page 142 of 163

Current as of 8/16/2012 at 10:51 AM
Sensitive and Pre-Decisional

o The adjustment will make sure that future PSPA capacity is only used to support
the financial stability of the GSEs.

41. Who were the parties that had to agree to this change? When did that happen?
e Treasury and FHFA, acting as conservator for the GSEs, agreed to the amendment.

e After extensive discussions between Treasury and FHFA, the formal document execution
occurred on Friday, August 17.

e The GSE senior management teams were briefed by Treasury and FHFA before changes
were executed.
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BRIEFING MEMORANDUM FOR UNDER SECRETARY MILLER

Event: Meetings with Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae Management Teams
Date/Loc: Freddie Mac — August 9, 2012 at 11:00 AM, DIP Room
Fannie Mae — August 9, 2012 at 2:00 PM, DIP Room
Press: Closed
From: Timothy Bowler, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Capital Markets

Attached below are several key questions and areas for discussion we believe you should raise
during your meetings with the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac management teams tomorrow. Both
Enterprises also plan to provide you with a status update on their financial position, including the
most recent earnings results as well as human capital conditions at the GSEs.

KEY QUESTIONS/TOPICS TO DISCUSS
DISCUSS AT BOTH MEETINGS

Earnings

e We should receive an update on the GSEs’ near and long-term financial forecasts,
including additional forecasted PSPA draws in Q3 and Q4, expectations for future capital
reserve takings or reserve releases, and potential increases in the delinquency rates on the
GSEs’ post-2008 books of business. We would also like to know how quickly they
forecast releasing credit reserves and when they expect their reserve balances to stabilize.

e We would like the management teams to explain how each Enterprise utilizes derivatives
to hedge their books of business and which holdings are the most volatile.

e We would like to know approximately how much of the reduction in credit losses this
past quarter arose from the recent rise in home prices verses other factors. Do they
foresee additional credit loss reductions in the third and fourth quarters?

e Both Enterprises recently decreased their debt issuance in the market (Debt outstanding at
Fannie decreased 11% YTD; Freddie decreased 13% YTD). We would like to know
what feedback they have received from market participants on this change.

e From the first to the second quarter, the overall single-family serious delinquency rates at
both Enterprises declined. We would like to know whether they anticipate continued
declines in this figure in the third and fourth quarters.

Management and sale of non-performing loans

e Treasury is supportive of reducing risk on the GSEs’ balance sheets and finding ways to
transfer servicing of NPLs from poorer performing servicers to special servicers as well
as potentially executing outright sales. We would like to know what hurdles they see as
that may prevent this effort from moving forward.
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Single securitization platform & single security effort

e  We would like a general update on how discussions are proceeding with FHFA and how
Treasury can help to move the single securitization platform initiative forward.

DISCUSS WITH FREDDIE MAC ONLY

Credit risk syndication

e FHFA is preparing directives to the GSEs regarding a data release and transaction that
will likely take place in Q4. Freddie expressed concern this initiative will not be
profitable in the near term and may cost taxpayers money. They also expressed concern
with releasing loan level information to the market.

e Treasury fully supports FHFA’s credit risk syndication efforts and the release of adequate
loan level information. We believe releasing this information is not only helpful for GSE
risk syndication, but also for helping restart the private securitization markets. We also
believe credit risk syndication efforts should be programmatic and not a single one-off
transaction (Freddie Mac would like to start with one and may not commit to more).

e  We would like to see whether Freddie would be able to move forward with an August
announcement of the program initiative and loan level data release so that a pilot
transaction can be completed in Q4.

REO-to-rental financing

e FHFA recently denied Freddie Mac’s request to develop a debt guarantee pilot program
to support scattered-site single family rental investment and long-term management. We
would like to know how they plan to respond to FHFA’s decision.

Human capital concerns

e  We would like to know what the plans are for staff retention, new hiring and the progress
of rebuilding the broader team at Freddie Mac.

e Freddie also recently announced a series of structural/personnel changes to their various
lines of business. We would like to know how they believe this will improve efficiencies
at the Enterprise and if Treasury should be aware of any further management changes that
may occur in the near future.

DISCUSS WITH FANNIE MAE ONLY

Earnings

e The number of loan modifications and repayment plans/forbearances at Fannie decreased
substantially this past quarter. We would like to know the main reason for this decline.

Future REO-to-rental efforts

e We would like to get an update on Fannie Mae’s plans for additional bulk REO sales.
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FREDDIE MAC MEETING PARTICIPANTS

Donald Layton - chief executive officer

Ross Jay Kari - chief financial officer

Jerry Weiss - executive vice president and chief administrative officer

FEdward Golding - senior vice president of the models, mission & research division
Devajyoti Ghose - senior vice president of investments & capital markets division

Paul Mullings - senior vice president and interim head of single-family business, operations, and
information technology

FREDDIE MAC BIOGRAPHIES

Donald Layton is chief executive officer of Freddie Mac. Layton has over 35 years of
experience in financial services and as a corporate leader. He worked for nearly 30 years at
JPMorgan Chase and its predecessors, starting as a trainee and rising to vice chairman and
member of the three-person Office of the Chairman, retiring in 2004. More recently, from 2007
to 2009 he served as chairman and then CEO of E¥*TRADE Financial, which he shepherded
through the financial crisis. Layton received simultaneous Bachelor and Master of Science
degrees in economics from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and a Master of Business
Administration from Harvard Business School.

Ross Jay Kari was named chief financial officer of Freddie Mac in September 2009. 1In this
position, he is responsible for the company's financial controls, accounting, investor relations,
financial planning and reporting, tax, capital oversight, and compliance with the requirements of
Sarbanes-Oxley. Additionally, he oversees the Investment and Capital Markets division and
management of Freddie Mac's mortgage investment activities. Kari is a member of the
company's management committee and reports directly to Chief Executive Officer Don Layton.
Previously, Kari served as chief financial officer of Fifth Third Bancorp in Cincinnati, Ohio.
From 2002 to 2006, Kari served as executive vice president and chief operating officer for
another housing government-sponsored enterprise, the Federal Home Loan Bank of San
Francisco. Kari spent a large portion of his career at Wells Fargo from 1983 to 2001, during
which time he rose from senior financial analyst to executive vice president and chief financial
officer. Kari received a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics and earned his MBA in
Finance, both from the University of Oregon.

Jerry Weiss was named executive vice president and chief administrative officer in July
2010. Weiss manages the services and operations of Freddie Mac's Strategy; External Relations,
including Government and Industry Relations, Public Relations and Corporate Marketing,
Corporate Relations and Housing Outreach, and Internal Communications; Human Resources;
and Models, Mission and Research organizations. Weiss has overall responsibility for managing
the company's regulatory affairs and strategies and he serves as the company's senior executive
liaison to the Federal Housing Finance Agency and the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Prior
to Freddie Mac, Weiss was most recently first vice president and Global Head of Compliance at
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers (MLIM) from 1990 to 2003. From 1982 to 1990, Weiss was
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with a national law practice in Washington, D.C., where he specialized in securities regulation,

investment management, and corporate finance matters. Weiss graduated Phi Beta Kappa from
the State University of New York at Binghamton with a B.A. in political science and earned his
law degree from The George Washington University.

Edward Golding was named senior vice president of the Models, Mission & Research
Division in September 2010. In this role, Golding is responsible for developing and
implementing mortgage models that support business decisions, risk management and the
financial statements. He also oversees the Office of the Chief Economist and the Mission and
Strategy Division. Prior to that, in February 2007, Golding was named senior vice president of
Equity Investor Relations, and later expanded to include Debt Investor Relations. In that
position, Golding was responsible for communications of financial results to investors and Wall
Street analysts. Golding joined Freddie Mac in 1989 as senior economist and has held various
senior roles dealing with capital management, corporate strategy and economic analysis.
Golding holds a Ph.D. in economics from Princeton University and an A.B. in Applied
mathematics from Harvard College.

Devajyoti (Doc) Ghose is the senior vice president of Freddie Mac’s Investments & Capital
Markets division and the company’s Treasurer. In this position, he is responsible for managing
all of Freddie Mac’s mortgage investment activities for the mortgage-related investments
portfolio as well as the company’s short- and long-term debt issuance. Previously, Ghose served
in various senior positions at Freddie Mac in which he was responsible for managing the
company’s debt portfolio and the non-mortgage investments portfolio; maintaining the
company’s liquidity position; evaluating the risks and returns of Freddie Mac’s guarantee fee
business; developing hedging strategies for Freddie Mac’s investment portfolio; and developing
valuation models for various fixed income securities including mortgage-related products,
debentures and interest-rate derivatives. Ghose holds a Ph.D. in econometrics from the
University of California San Diego, a Masters degree in Economics from the Delhi School of
Economics and a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from St. Stephens College, Delhi.

Paul Mullings is senior vice president and interim head of Single-Family Business,
Operations, and Information Technology at Freddie Mac. In this capacity, Mullings has broad
responsibilities over the Single-Family line of business, including the administration, relationship
and performance management of Freddie Mac Seller/Servicers; performance of Freddie Mac's
guarantee book of business; and all sourcing, servicing and business operations. In addition, he is
responsible for enterprise technology and the management of this vital corporate asset for all of
Freddie Mac through support, project management and technological services. Mullings joined
Freddie Mac in 2005 from JP Morgan Chase where he was senior vice president, manager
Mortgage Finance, and Fair Lending executive at Chase Home Finance. Mullings is a Graduate
of The Institute of Accounting Staff, London, England.
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FANNIE MAE MEETING PARTICIPANTS

Timothy Mayopoulos — president and chief executive officer

Terry Ldwards — executive vice president - credit portfolio management
David Benson — executive vice president - capital markets

Susan McFarland — executive vice president and chief financial officer

FANNIE MAE BIOGRAPHIES

Timothy Mayopoulos is Fannie Mae's President and Chief Executive Officer, and a member
of the company's Board of Directors. As President and CEO, Mr. Mayopoulos is focused on
ensuring that the company continues to manage its legacy issues effectively, while driving the
company’s contributions to creating a better housing finance system for the future. Under his
leadership, Fannie Mae will continue to play an essential role in funding the market, assisting
troubled homeowners, strengthening communities and repaying taxpayers’ investment in the
company.

Mr. Mayopoulos brings more than 25 years of experience to his new leadership post. He joined
Fannie Mae in April 2009 as executive vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary
and was appointed chief administrative officer in 2010. Since joining the company’s executive
management team, Mr. Mayopoulos has managed critical functions at the company, including its
human capital strategy, communications and marketing, government and industry relations and
the legal function. He has also provided leadership and oversight of the company’s long-term
strategy to drive operating excellence and strategic initiatives to improve the company and
housing finance industry.

Prior to joining Fannie Mae, Mr. Mayopoulos was executive vice president and general counsel
of Bank of America Corporation. Previously, he served in senior management roles at Deutsche
Bank AG, Credit Suisse First Boston and Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc. Earlier in his
career, Mayopoulos was in private practice. He is a graduate of Cornell University and the New
York University School of Law.

Terry Edwards is Fannie Mae's Executive Vice President - Credit Portfolio Management.
Reporting to the President and Chief Executive Officer, he has responsibility for Fannie Mae's
foreclosure prevention and loss mitigation activities for its single-family book of business. In this
capacity, Mr. Edwards leads the company's National Servicing Organization, its National
Property Disposition Center, and its National Underwriting Center. His duties include executing
the Making Home Affordable program, managing our Real Estate Owned (REO) and loss
mitigation activities, ensuring collection and preservation of credit enhancements, as well as
overseeing and managing our servicing guidelines and policies.
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Mr. Edwards is former President and CEO of PHH Corporation, where he served for nearly three
decades and in a variety of executive roles, including as President and CEO of PHH Mortgage,
one of the nation's top ten mortgage servicers. Mr. Edwards holds a Master's degree from Loyola
College and received his undergraduate degree from Iona College.

David Benson is Fannie Mae's Executive Vice President - Capital Markets. Reporting to the
President and Chief Executive Officer, he is responsible for the company’s balance sheet
management, trading, and securitization activities serving both the single- family and multi-
family mortgage markets. Mr. Benson is chairman of the Asset-Liability Committee and is
responsible for managing the firm’s interest rate, funding, and liquidity risks. He plays a leading
role in managing our relationships with the fixed income and mortgage industry including
institutional investors, financial institutions, government officials, and regulatory agencies.
Previously, Mr. Benson was Senior Vice President and Treasurer responsible for the company's
debt issuance, liability management, and liquidity management activities.

Prior to joining Fannie Mae in 2002, Mr. Benson was a managing director within the fixed-
income division of Merrill Lynch & Co. For more than 14 years he held leadership positions in
risk management, fixed-income and currency trading, debt syndication, and e-commerce based in
New York and London.

Mr. Benson has a master of business administration from Stanford Business School, a doctor of
medicine from Harvard Medical School, and a bachelor of science in psychobiology, summa
cum laude, from the University of California, Los Angeles.

Susan McFarland is Fannie Mae’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
reporting to the Chief Executive Officer. She is responsible for financial management across the
enterprise, including financial reporting and accounting, and for ensuring the highest standards of
financial integrity. Ms. McFarland leads financial planning and analysis including resource
allocation, modeling and analytics, the controller’s office, strategic analytics & transformation,
procurement, and economic and strategic research. She also plays a leading role in managing
Fannie Mae’s relationships with government and regulatory entities along with other financial
services relationships.

Ms. McFarland has more than 25 years of experience in consumer and retail financial services.
She joined Fannie Mae in July 2011 bringing with her a strong background in accounting,
controls, operating finance, and IT financial systems.

Prior to joining Fannie Mae, Ms. McFarland was with Capital One Financial Corporation since
2002 where she led a 500-person team responsible for accounting, tax, procurement, and
planning and helped transform a mono-line credit card company into a diversified financial
services corporation. Ms. McFarland also served as Executive Vice President, Finance and
Principal Accounting Officer and Executive Vice President and Corporate Controller — Capital
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One Financial Corporation; Chief Financial Officer — Capital One Bank; and Chief Financial
Officer — Infrastructure Finance.

Before joining Capital One, Ms. McFarland was with Bank One Corporation for more than 15
years serving as CFO for a variety of groups and divisions, including the retail bank. During her
tenure at Bank One, she was instrumental in developing and implementing profit and loss
statements for 1,800 banking centers including Web-based reporting and information tools. She
began her career as a senior auditor at Deloitte & Touche.

Ms. McFarland has a bachelor of business administration in accounting from Texas A&M
University and is a graduate of the Stanford University executive program.
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Event:
Drafted:
Approved:

Cleared:

Clearance Sheet

Meetings with Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae Management
Capital Markets — Adam Chepenik, phone 622-2534
Housing Counselor — Michael Stegman (OK 8/8)

Capital Markets — Tim Bowler (OK 8/8)
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EXHIBIT 38

A494
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EXHIBIT 39

A500
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EXHIBIT 40

A503
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From: Ugoletti, Mario

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 1:55 PM
To: Brereton, Peter

Subject: RE: income sweep payments

There is no short answer, it is basically a variable dividend payment, the mechanism on paying down the liquidation
preference is contained in the stock certificate (which is online somewhere) in sections 3 and 4:

Section 3 is optional pay down, really is not any, occurs when:

(1) Termination of the commitment, which occurs only at liquidation end date, the sellers liabilities have been paid
off, or Treasury runs out of money.

(2) If dividends were paid in kind or the periodic commitment fee was imposed and added to the liquidation
preference

Section 4 is the mandatory pay down
(1) The proceeds from any new issuance of capital stock must be used to pay down the liquidation preference.

Glad to discuss with him, Mario.

From: Brereton, Peter

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 1:00 PM
To: Ugoletti, Mario

Subject: FW: income sweep payments

Mario:

Is there a short answer to his question or some link that we can send him? Thanks.

From: Bright, Michael (Corker) [mailto:Michael Brigh
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 12:55 PM

To: Brereton, Peter

Subject: RE: income sweep payments

From:”él.'e.réfd.n”,.li.’eter o e, .v. s
Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 12:16 PM

To: Bright, Michael (Corker)
Subject: Re: income sweep payments

The dividend does not paydown the principal. The rest of the SPSA stands meaning that the taxpayer will be paid off only
when Treasury exercises it rights under the liquidity preference of the senior prefeRred.

From: Bright, Michael (Corker) [mailto:Michael Brigh

Sent: Friday, August 17, 2012 11:47 AM

To: Brereton, Peter
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Subject: income sweep payments

Peter,

Is the “net income sweep? money that goes to paydown principal or is it just basically a variable coupon payment? If the
latter, are there mechanisms for paying down the principal of what the GSE’s owe Treasury?

Thanks,
Michael

Confidentiality Notice: The information contained in this e-mail and any
attachments may be confidential or privileged under applicable law, or otherwise
may be protected from disclosure to anyone other than the intended recipient(s}.
Any use, distribution, or copying of this e-mail, including any of its contents
or attachments by any person other than the intended recipient, or for any
purpose other than its intendec use, is strictly prohibited. If you believe you
have receilved this e-mail in error: permanently delete the e-mail and any
attachments, and do not save, copy, disclose, or rely on any part of the
information contained in this e-mail or its attachments. Please call
202-649-3800 if you have questions.
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